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must be freely, voluntarily, and intelligently made, with
knowledge of the protections given to you by the Fifth
Amendment and the consequences of your decision to testify.
If you decide not to testify, I will instruct the jurors
that they cannot give the fact that you did not testify any
consideration whatsoever. 2&nd there -- that there is to be
absolutely no prejudice to you because you did not testify.
It is left entirely up to you whether or not you testify.

You may talk with your attorney, your family and
friends or anyone else, but the final decision will be left
entirely up to you. Do you understand what I've explained
to you?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions about what I've -
explained to you?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Have you discussed with your lawyer
whether or not you should testify?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am,

THE COURT: Do you need any additional time to talk to
your lawyer or anyone else about the decision whether to
testify?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE CQURT: Do you wish to testify?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.
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THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. You can have a seat.
All righty. So that then concludes this case. Wonderful.
Testimony and all that. Or do you have any other
witnesses? I'm sorry.

MR. HAYES: No, I don't -- I don't have any witnesses,
Judge. I do preobably would, in front of the jury, rest my
case, renew my previous motions and objections and that
kind of thing just to preserve it for the record.

THE COURT: Absolutely.

MR. HAYES: And we can be able to move forward with
the closing argument.

THE COURT: Absolutely. So, since I've just ruled on
the motions and -- and everything, I can go ahead and tell
you my rulings remain the same on those. Nothing's
changed.

MR. HAYES: 1It's just strictly about preservation and
making sure that I'm doing the things I'm supposed to be
doing.

THE COURT: Absolutely. And so for preservation of
the record, you've done it now at -- you know, at the close
of all of the evidence. I only say that because you can
rest formally in front of the jury, but I don't want to
have to send them back out to, you know, for you to renew
the -- the motions and objections. Although I guess that's

innocuous enough.
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MR. HAYES: Well, yeah, I think that --

THE COURT: That you can say those words.

MR. HAYES: I did -- I think I did that in front of
the jury in a case with Judge Coble back in August. I
mean, I --

THE CCURT: Yeah, you can. Of course.

MR. HAYES: T think we did it -- I think we did it
like that just because I am -- I'm not interested in -- you
know, making them parade around, so.

THE COURT: Right. And since there has been no
Defense evidence, no Defense case, there's no additional
argument to be made on those motions, I suppose, so yeah,
that's fine. So we'll do that at 10:30 when the jury comes
in.

So, if you can email any proposed jury charges to my
clerk this evening, that would be helpful. And then I'1l1l
see you all at 9:30 to have a conversation about the
charges, and finalize the charges before the jury comes.
Okay?

MR. HAYES: Yes, ma'am.

THE CQURT: 9:30 tomorrow morning. Have a good night.

(Court adjourned until 9:30 a.m)

November 21,2024

THE BAILIFF: Court come to order. All rise. You may

be seated.
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THE CQOURT: Good morning, everybody.

THE JURY: Good morning.

THE COURT: We don't have a finalized jury charge yet.
But I'm going to give you the shell of what we have so that
you can start loocking at it. Pay no attention to these
substantive criminal charges. What you're looking at there
is all of the other language about expert witnesses and
criminal intent, presumption of innccence, blah, blah,
blah, to see if I've missed anything or if anything needs
to be added to that.

MR. HAYES: Good meorning, Judge.

THE CQURT: Good morning. Yes, sir.

MR. HAYES: I have just one very brief thing I'd like
to put on the record.

THE COURT: Absolutely.

MR. HAYES: From yesterday, one c¢f the rulings by the
Court -- I just —-- we had a sidebar. There was an
objection made while Special Agent Fey was testifying about
his understanding or impression of testimony -- or not
necessarily testimony, but information that was available
in a Met CAC interview.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. HAYES: Cf a non-testing victim -- alleged victim.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. HAYES: Okay. And I had attempted to, sort of,
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through the product of hearsay, understand what he —-- he
had testified in -- in -- on direct about he had kind of
relied on the Met CAC interview in his investigation. And
so I wanted to go into that a little bit about some of the
things and his understanding, impressions of the non-
testifying victims, sort of, what their perspective was and
what his impression of that was.

At the time, the Government sustained an objection --
or the -- the Government objected. The Court sustained
that. There was some argument at the time. Later, we had
a bench conference to further kind of discuss that. And I
don't know if that bench conference is on —- a part of the
record or not. I don't. So just out of clarity, I just
want to make sure that my understanding -- and I'm not
trying to misrepresent anything, but we had é pench
conference to talk about that.

And, basically, I told the Court exactly what I just
said during that conference. 2And the Government basically
said they thought that it was an improper line of
gquestioning based on the -- there was some kind of
privilege. I'm not exactly -- and I'll let them say
whatever it is that they -- they purported to say. But it
was my understanding based on the Court's ruling that any
line of gquestioning about that interview with Sergeant Fey

was impermissible and I wasn't to go down. Right. And so




506

10

11

12

13

14

13

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

506

I just want to make sure that that is a part of the record
in -- in the event that this case needs to be reviewed.

THE COURT: Absolutely.

MR, HAYES: Thank you.

MS. HUGHES: Thank you, Your honor. The State's
position during that bench conference based off of Ms.
Raymer's objection was that the Defense wasn't trying to
elicit the product of hearsay, but was just trying to
elicit hearsay itself. I believe the question was posed,
do you remember N s2/inc to the forensic
interviewer, and then essentially repeating what [N
B s2:icd to ask the witness, Special Agent Fey, "Do
you remember [EJJ saving thatz?"

So the State's position is that that was eliciting
hearsay and not the product of hearsay. So that was the
basis of the State's objection. Also, he was trying to
elicit statements made in a forensic interviewer --
interview that is not otherwise independently admissible.

THE CQURT: And for those reasons, the Court sustained
the objection. The previous question of the witness -- I
don't remember the wording of it, but certainly he -- the
interview was mentioned, but the questicn was, what did he
do as a result of the information that he got from the
interview after reviewing the interview, which, frankly, is

always a permissible gquestieon. And -- and the way that you




190

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

507

507

have to ask guestions to avoid hearsay, the witness can't
say what the other person said.

They can say, "Well, I talked to them on the phone and
then I went to the grocery store." Can't tell us what they
told you on the phone, but you can tell us what you did in
response to whatever information you got. But, I mean, I
think the State has articulated it pretty well. I -- I --
found your question to be different from that, asking for
actual hearsay rather than his response to infeormation that
he received.

MR. HAYES: Right. Yeah. T was trying to seek his
understanding or impression of what the information
provided was because he said he had relied on it in his
investigaticn.

THE COURT: Right. Which then calls for hearsay. The
same as if my phone call and going to the grocery store,
they can say, you talked to her on the phone and as a
result of that conversation, what did you do when I went to
the grocery store. It's different to ask, "What did she
say to you on the phone?"

MR. BAYES: I didn't. Yeazh, I didn't ask --

THE COURT: Even i1f the question is -- I mean, even if
the answer to that question would be, "Well, she told me
not to go to the grocery store on the phone," or "She told

me the grocery store was dangerous." It doesn't matter.
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That's the hearsay part. The non hearsay part is in
response teo that. And "Maybe he's a crazy person because I
told him the grocery store was on fire and he went to the
grocery store.” I don't know. And the jury doesn't know.
That's the hearsay part.

MR. HAYES: And I understand, Judge, and I think that
there -- and the way that I tried to frame the question, it
would be within one of the exceptions. But I understand
the Court's fuling. I'm not trying to quibble. Again, I'm
just trying to protect my client's interests. And I just
want to make sure in the event that that bench conference
wasn't on the record -- they're not always -- I -- I -- and
I -- I didn't think to do it yesterday afternoon, but I
Just want to make sure that I reserve that.

THE COURT: Absolutely.

MR. HAYES: Thank you.

THE COURT: Absolutely. And I was just trying to --
you know, I got to put my reasons on the record too, what's
all of that is discussed because -- yeah. When --

MR. BAYES: And so it sort of landed itself. I didn't
go down the line of gquestioning because that was my
understanding. The Court said that basically any -- any
kind of like similar type of question because that wouldn't
have been the only one had I gone down the path. There was

going to be a lot. But it was my understanding that the




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

509

509

Court's ruling in the bench conference said, and that whole
line of questioning would've been impermissible for the
reasons that you outlined.

THE COQURT: Absolutely. Absolutely. Qkay. Did the
Defense have any proposed jury charges?

MR. HAYES: No, ma'am. I really didn't.

THE COURT: OQkay.

MR. HAYES: You know, your standard charge, Judge, I
know you've been doing it a long time and have a lot of
respect for the Court in that respect. I did, you know,
kind of go through and try to match up, to some degree,
some of the substantive thing. But I guess we're going to
get through that in a minute because I stocd up when you
said, "Forget about the criminal stuff, let's go through
the other ones first." 8o we really hadn't got to do that
before I interrupted this process.

THE CQURT: Right. No, that's fine. That's fine.
Yeah, so bottom of page 9, and then going on to page 10. I
-- I mean, "trafficking persocns," ignore that because
that's -- that's Jjust a beginning, not maybe my final
wording of it. "First degree sexual exploitation of a
minor," you can igncre that, so. As I said, I was really
trying tc get at all of the rest of it, and make sure that
there are no specific charges, specific language that needs

to be added cother than that. But if you don't have
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anything or don't have anything yet, we can pause again
while we work on the substantive charges a bit more and --
and then come get that to you and talk about that.

MR, HAYES: Well, I mean, Judge, I -- I wish I was
more of a legal eagle, and I think I've expressed that to
the Court in the past. I mean, it is sort of a -- you
know, I don't -- our legislature is -- this is what they've
given us. And so it's a little bit convoluted and a little
bit choppy. 2and so trying to get through this and trying
to put it in a form where somebody might actually
understand what it's trying to say is difficult.

And Defense recognizes that I'm certainly, you know,

more of a trenches lawyer than a -- than a legal eagle
lawyer. But, so I'm -- I'm sure we'll be able tec try to
flush it out. I -- I would've comments at the appropriate
time on -- on the proposed charge.

THE COURT: Let me hear those comments. They may be
helpful in my editing.

MR. HAYES: Yes, ma'am. And I -- and I don't know
that there's a way around it, necessarily, but I guess the
statute is 1632020 and it talks about, you know, different
things. And I guess when we -- we look at page 1 of the
proposed charge, at the bottom, it says "sex trafficking of
a person," that last paragraph. And then it goes on to the

next page to say all of these cother statutes —-- 1t cites
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all of these statutes, which I think could be confusing.

I don't - I ~--— I'm -- I mean, my -- my client's
charged with two of the ones that are cited, but there are
certainly several things here that he's not charged with.

THE CQURT: Right. And I -- I actually have a problem
with that as well. And that's sort of where I paused this
morning bhecause I'm not going to list a whole bunch of
other statutes. First off, I'm going to remove any code
section numbers, but also that laundry list under the
trafficking in persons. I know it's -- it actually
combines two statutes, I believe. Because I think the
trafficking in persons just refers to something else under
this section, and then you've got to go to the other
section to find that list of criminal sexual conduct and
all those other charges.

I have to figure out how to handle that. But I'll
tell you, I'm not going to list all however many -- hold
on, let me locock at it again. Yeah, all 10 of those things
that are listed there. I -- I will not do that. I
recognize, though, that some of those do need to be
included, but it's only maybe two or three of them with
commas in between. Oh, here's a question while I'm
thinking of it. Do you want the jury to have a copy of the
charge in the jury room?

MS. HUGHES: No. The State would not have an
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obhjection teo that. I think, honestly, we would gquite
prefer that given how much language is in it for them teo be
able to go back and look at it. Would -- the State would
prefer that.

THE COURT: Okay. What says the Defense?

MR. HAYES: Defense would object to a copy of the
instruction being returned to the jury?

THE COURT: What is the basis of the objection?

MR. HAYES: Well, they would -- I mean, Judge, if it's
in front of them, sometimes they just have a tendency to
overthink it and these kind of things, I mean, it's -- you
know, I mean this -- while we're here on Thursday morning,
I wouldn't say that this case has been a really long or
really complicated trial. I think it's fairly
straightforward. And, you know, the legal analysis is
fairly straightforward.

I mean, assuming that the instruction could be --
assuming that we can get the charge in a way, but I -- I
feel like it -- the idea of what my client is charged with
is fairly straightforward, generally. B&nd I just worry

about a jury when -- especially if they -- they have it in

front of them, they -- you know, they sometimes tend to
lose focus about other things and they -- you know, you

Just don't know what could happen with -—- with the

instruction itself when -- once they get in there.
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T mean, obviously 1f they have questions about the
instruction, they can ask questions and come back out and
the Court can recharge on any particular provision to make
sure that, you know, they -- they -- if they need to hear
it again, then the Court would've an opportunity to do
that. But, you know, otherwise, it's -- you know, I just
think that the possibilities and interpretation and other
things like that could create a problem and could wind up
in some sort of prejudice or bias against my client. And
that would be the basis for the objection.

THE COURT: OQOkay. Before deciding that, let me ask
the subsequent question. Is there any reason that the
indictments cannot go into the jury room? There -- for
sexual exploitation of a minor, first degree, sexual
exploitation of a minor, second degree, trafficking in
persons victim under 18, first offense -- so not a second
offense or third offense. So there's no suggestion that
there's any prior c¢riminal record for this, at least. Can
the jury have the indictments?

MS. HUGHES: State have no objection to that. Again,
of course, they're going to be instructed that that's not
evidence. 8o I don't think there's any harm in sending
them that.

THE COQURT: What says the Defense?

MR. HAYES: Judge, I mean, I'm sure you can anticipate
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what I'm going to say.

THE COURT: Of course.

MR, HAYES: But I'm going to object tc the idea that
the indictments return to the jury room. They —-- they're
sort of general, they're nctice documents to the Defendant.
The Court has found that notice is properly outlined in the
-- the indictment. I mean, really. So they -- they
understand you're going to tell them in the charge what the
charges are. What -- what are the charges that my client's
facing. They've already been told and they've read the
indictment previously at the beginning of the case. They
know what the charges are.

The Government has worked to try to prove those
charges for the last three days. And what my concern would
be is that the indictment's back there and they start
looking at it, and there's people's signatures on it, and
it says true bill and all these kinds c¢f things that they
would say, well, hey -- you know, even though it's a
different standard -- a probable cause standard in the
indictment, this this standard befcre this jury is cne
that's beycend reasonable doubt.

T would've concerns that they would read -- they may
not fully appreciate that, and that they could locok at the
document, see the authentication of the document, see the

signatures and the true bill, and the different things are
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associated with the document and say, "Well, those people
in the grand jury thought there was enough evidence, so we
-— we should too."™ And I think that that could wind up in
some sort of prejudicial effect against my client's
interests.

MS. HUGHES: And one thing I did want to add, Your
Honor, I do think it would be helpful for them to have the
indictments because they specify which victim is associated
with which indictments. So if the jury decided to split
and perhaps find the Defendant cguilty as to one victim and
not the other, then they know which indictment they need to

return the verdicts on.

MR. HAYES: My response to that, Judge, would be -- as
it relates to the -- the human trafficking charge contained
in this number on -- on the verdict form, right, you could

put, you know, R, or or 25, (ENE

There'd be ways to cure that through the verdict form. If
we're concerned about them not understanding which verdict
they're actually returning, I think that we can actually
cure that. We can -- and -- and the way that the verdict
form would be presented, we'd say, these are the charges
that relate to this victim. These are the charges that
relate to this victim. And how do you find?

THE COURT: So in a bit of a compromise decision. I

will send the indictments to the jury room. I will not
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give them a written copy of the jury charge. Not that I
think they shouldn't have it, but, you know, I'm -- I'm
splitting the baby here. Frankly, the indictments are
meant to be sitting to the jury room. They're designed to
be sitting to the jury room. And that's why there's a
place in this bottom left corner for the foreperson to
write the verdict of the jury.

aAnd it happens to be in the same column under who the
witnesses are, the arrest warrant number, the action of the
grand jury, and then the verdict, with a place to write the
verdict and a signature of the foreperson of petty jury and
a date. They're designed to go back there and I -- I find
no reason in this particular case not to send them back
there. Clearly, if i1t were a charge as a second offense or
some other subsequent offense, that would be problematic
and the Court would do a verdict form instead.

But ﬁith it being a first cffense, I -- I just don't
think there's any prejudice to the Defendant or any
suggestion of anything here. 1In fact, it suggests -- or it
-- yeah, it suggests that he's never done this before, and
has no history of doing this. 8o, and I say it's sort of
splitting the baby because by them having the indictments,
they do have the language -- or relevant language from the
statutes in the boedy of the indictments. And so it may not

be necessary to give them a written copy of the jury charge
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because they will be able to rely on this brief
description.
And it does help, obviously, the separate victims

could be cured on a verdict form too, but I just don't see

*any reason not to send the indictments back. Yes, sir,

MR. HAYES: My understanding, Judge -- my
understanding of the ruling, Judge, I -- and I'm not trying
to be funny about this, so please don't -- but why would we
need a verdict form?

THE COURT: The only time we do a verdict form is if I
don't send the indictment.

MR. HAYES: So we're not going to have a form?

THE COURT: We're not going to have a verdict form.

MR. HAYES: Right. That's what -- I mean -- I'm --
and not saying that because I'm -- I've never been -- you
know, I never seen where we didn't actually have z verdict
form in a case. So this is sort of -- and I appreciate the
Court's ruling, and I wasn't trying to be funny. I --1I
was just sitting thinking like, "Why do we need a verdict
form?"

THE CQURT: Yeah, we don't.

MR. HAYES: The way you said it, so I appreciate it.

THE COURT: We don't. What I was saying is if he were
charged with trafficking second offense or third offense,

then I would instead do a verdict form and not show the
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jury the indictment because, of course, a second or
subsequent offense suggests a criminal record, which is
some evidence that they shouldn't have, et cetera, et
cetera. And I would do a verdict form instead of sending
the indictments back. With the indictments, there is no
need to do a verdict form. QOkay.

MR. HAYES: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And I interrupted our discussion about --
Mr. Hayes, your objecticns to the State’'s proposed charges.
We were on this sort of laundry list of other code sections
under the human trafficking statute. Were there other
portions that you were concerned about?

MR. HAYES: Not -- not right off, Judge. I did my
best to try to reconcille the two.

THE COURT: I will tell you, I am going to remove any
references to bestiality, sadomasochistic abuse -- I forget
what else -- but things that have no place in this case.
Yeah, there's a portion of the definiticn of sexually
explicit nudity that talks about covered human male
genitals. That'll be removed.

In the definitions section before that, under the
definition of sexual activity, I'll remove subsections D,
E, and F that refer to bestiality, expiratory functions,
and insertion of a part of a person's body. Those are just

—— there are no facts in evidence. And I -- I think -- in
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all cases, it's appropriate te remove irrelevant portions
of statutes, but particularly, in this case, given the --
the nazture of the case, I don't want to add any other
sexually suggestive things that have no place here.

So, and that includes under sexual activity subsection
A -- or I guess it's not a subsection, but a list. I would
remove animal from the end of that. B, I was actually
going to take off "whether done with another human or
animal." I think people know what intercourse is, and that
last clause is unnecessary. But that's where I am. We're
going to go work on this, and if you want to -- and of
course we'll bring you sort of a more final draft.

MR. HAYES: Maybe —-- yes, ma'am. And I -- 1
appreciate that. Just to review it one last time, it is --
it is difficult tec follow, right? I mean, it's --

TEE COURT: Right. And that's why I'm struggling with
it because the statutes themselves are difficult to follow.
And I mean, we're -- you know, 1, 2, 3, 4 lawyers in here
having difficulty, but also I've got to turn it into
complete sentences, you know, to instruct the jury what the
State must prove beyond a reascnable doubt, that this
portion of it and that portion of the statute and that
portion. And so that's -- that's sort of the delay, I
guess, a little bit. But we're going to get there in the

next few minutes.
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So let's take a break. And y'all, you know, keep
reviewing what you dc have just to make sure that I haven't
remcved or left out any important aspect of things. We do
have the Defendant's election not to testify in there. I
kept in -- from a previous charge, I kept in prior record
of a witness.

MR. HAYES: I think you can probably take that out,
Judge. I mean, I don't -- there wasn't -- I mean, there
was no impeachment evidence offered against any witness as
it relates to prior receord, except, well, I guess maybe --

THE COURT: Naneka.

MR. HAYES: ©Naneka. But --

THE COURT: Right. That's -- I was on the fence and
that's why I left it in, because they do know that she's
pled guilty to these charges. 3So -- or similar charges. I
don't know, dces the State wish for it to be in, or --

MS. HUGHES: I think it'd be proper to keep it in
there since there is that evidence.

THE CQURT: Yeah. That's the only thing I could think
of. Otherwise, I would've removed it. But I think it's
appropriate because of Naneka.

MR. HAYES: I mean, it's -- it -- so when I think
about the -- the prior record, right -- and just trying to
think it out, Judge -- preface by -- that's a dangerous

thing for me to do. But it's -- to me, it strikes me as
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that it's really not a prior record. I mean, she's pled
guilty as a result of the -- the allegations that are
involved in this case.

So it's not like we're trying to bring up something
that happened before whatever these allegations are that
we're here to have this trial about. They're a product of
what the allegations that we're having this trial about.
So, to me, it's really -- it's more like a present -- you
know, it's a present record that it still hasn't fully been
resolved. I mean -- you know, while it -- it probably -- I
guess if we ran -- it'd be interesting to know because I --
I don't know the answer to this, but if you were to go run
a rap sheet right now, right, would the convictions show?

I mean, the conviction, I guess, has been entered, but
sentencing is held in abeyance, so I don't really know how
that would -- how would that read out. Right. And it was
not like the prior record existed at the time -- back in
September of 20189.

THE COURT: I think -- you know what? The more he
talks -- and he's going to be surprised to hear this -- the
more he talks, the more I'm cenvinced by Mr. Hayes because,
actually, in looking at the language of it -- because it
really -- this portion of the charge deals with the
credibility of the witness. And so I don't even know that

that's necessary in this case because the record stems from
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these events.

It's not a situation where i1t's some separate event
and the Court has made a determination that, you know, it
was a crime of dishonestyoor something along those lines.
Those kinds of things that are admissible because they
impact the view of a person's credibility. This 1s a co-
defendant in the same activity, so either you believe her
or you don't. But it's -- I think that credibility doesn't
hinge on her conviction for this incilident or these
incidents. So I will remove prior record witness.

MR. HAYES: Thank you.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. So we'll take a break
at this point. Oh, no. Okay. Before that, punishment,
I've left in a section about -- you've heard testimony

concerning the penalty a person can serve for the crime

alleged in the indictment. It's not spot on in this case
because she -- Naneka pled'to -- I don't even remember what
she pled to.

MR. HAYES: She pled to human trafficking and -~ and

sexual exploitation, third degree.

THE COURT: Okay. 3But it was a negctiated plea; 1is
that right?

MS. HUGHES: It was a recommended cap of 10 years. So
I do —- 1if I remember correctly, there was some testimony

that came out about how her exposure was limited to 10
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years.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. HAYES: Judge, I -- I remember -- you know, I —--
basically, my recollection of the testimony would be that
she -- you know, ‘she was facing more than 10. I didn't go
into what that was. I just said, vou -- you know, and
through this plea negotiation, you limited that exposure to
10. And because she had -- obviously there was more there,
but I didn't -- I didn't put a number on it, and I tried to
stay away from it for this very cocnversation.

But, I mean, I did, I think through the -- through the
testimony, establish that it was possible that, you know,
she was going to get more than 10. She made a deal to make
sure that was the motion you did.

MS. HUGHES: If I may? I think the charge could just
be slightly confusing or misleading, because I don't know
that they heard testimony of -- I mean, they heard
testimony that she could have gotten more than 10 years, I
guess 1s what they could pick up from it. But they don't
actually know what the -- the maximum penalties for any of
the specific charges are.

THE CQURT: So deces the State want me to remove that
section?

MS. HUGHES: I think so. I think it might just be a

bit misleading, honestly, or confusing.
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THE COURT: Do you agree, Mr. Hayes?

MR. HAYES: I have no -- I have no -- no objection to
remcve that.

THE COURT: Okay. We'll jyst take that out then.
That's easy. Okay. So now we will take a break while we
finish up these substantive charges on the offenses, and
we'll get copies to you to review. Okay. Thank you. Be
back in a few.

(A short break was taken.)

THE CQURT: Okay. All righty. Any cbjecticons from
the State to the updated jury charge?

MS. HUGHES: No objections, Your Honor. There were
two small things I noticed that you may have already found,
but on page 9, it looks like "engage a child for sexual
performance"” is listed on there twice. And then --

THE COQURT: <Caught that.

MS. HUGHES: Page 12, the -- under subsection A,
sexual activity —- was still left on there. I believe we
wanted to remove that.

THE COQURT: Oh, yes. Thank you.

MS. HUGHES: Otherwise, no objections.

THE CQURT: Okay. From the Defense?

MR. HAYES: None that I can see, Judge. I'm trying to
think through it. They all -- all the statutes kind of

read the same.
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THE COURT: They do.

MR. HAYES: ZXind of the -- you know, so, but I
appreciate Your Honor's effort certainly.

THE COURT: Ckay. Now, juror number 317 wants to be
excused. Apparently, that's the same juror from yesterday
that was excused, but came back. But now this morning
wants to be excused. I'm a little unclear on the story,
but maybe his wife had a heart attack. Although that
doesn't seem to be crystal clear, so, of course, unless
there's an objection, I intend to excuse the juror.

MS. HUGHES: No objecticon from the State.

MR. HAYES: I mean, we do -- we would just like to
understand what it is. I mean, not to say =-- but whatever
was happening at the time, right, he was seemingly
motivated to be here. I mean, I don't know if things
changed when he got home and someone got ahold of his
common sense, apparently.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. HAYES: I -- I would like to just understand how
we got to where we're at. And depending on that, I don't
foresee an objection, but I weould like to have a clear
understanding of why we're actually releasing him when it
appeared like he probably should have been, but then asked
to stay.

THE COURT: Right. O©Okay. Please bring juror 317.
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Geod morning.

JUROR NUMBER 317: Morning.

THE COURT: Right there is fine. Is it, Mr. Scott?

JUROR NUMBER 317: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay. Tell me what's going on, Mr. Scott?

JUROR NUMBER 317: Yesterday when we -- we were
getting ready for lunch, I received a voicemail and my wife
was at work. Her boss called, left for message, said that
she had chest pain and numbness on her arm. So when I
left, I went to the hospital and they did tests, everything
like that. Came back here and later that evening found she
had a heart attack. And she -- this morning she had heart
cath surgery. The preocedure found she had 99 percent
blockage. So now she's in the recové&y room and I just
said, "Can I get excused to be with my wife?"

THE COURT: Okay. We good? Any additional inquiry
from the State, from the Defense?

M5, RAYMER: Not from the State.

MR. HAYES: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Any objection to the juror being excused?

MS. RAYMER: No objecticon from the State?

MR, HAYES: ©No objection.

THE COURT: 0Okay. You're free to go.

JURCR NUMBER 317: All right. Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.
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Ladies and gentlemen, we picked an -- an alternate
yesterday. Of course, they're supposed tec be done
randomly. We put the numbers in a cup and chose one. Do
we want to do that again or do we want to stick with the
one that was chosen yesterday?

MR. HAYES: I have nc idea who we chose, Judge, but I
think it probably -- however you want to do it. We did it
in believing that he was released. He wasn't released. I
think it'd be properly appropriate we do it again. I mean,

now -- now that you had -- you know, we thoucht he had been

THE COURT: Ckay, we'll do it again.

She's had the heart attack, had the surgery, and is in
recovery and now he's iike, "Oh, I'm going to be with you.™
I shouldn't have said that on the record. I'm sorry.

About to do the random selection of the alternate, and
Madam Clerk.

MADAM CLERK: Juror Number 124, Judge.

THE CCURT: 124 has been promoted to the jury. I am
also going to make juror number 172 the foreperson of the
jury. FYI. All right. State ready for the jury?

MS. RAYMER: Yes, Your Honor. Before we bring them
in, I want to make sure that be like -- this was working.
It was not quite.

THE COURT: And I guess we should talk about the order
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of -- of closing arguments.

MS. HUGHES: I don't believe the Defense has put any
evidence, so I believe he gets last.

THE COURT: Just making sure. You get the last
argument, Mr. Hayes.

MR. HAYES: Part of the strategy, Judge.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MS. HUGHES: Your Honor, perhaps now the State would
think it's probably best not to send the actual four of
these photographs back with the jury, the ones that are
extremely explicit. So the State would go ahead and ask
they not be sent back. And if they wish to review them,
that they can come into the courtroom to review them as to
steer clear of any —-

THE COURT: Give me those exhibit numbers, please.

MS. HUGHES: Your Honor, I think the ones that are
extremely explicit, should not be sent back are State’s
Exhibit 6, 14, 15, and 16.

THE COURT: 2Any objection to that, Mr. Hayes?

MS. HUGHES: No. Objecticn, Judge.

THE COURT: Okay. So we'll keep -- and -- and,
actually, you're not going to use them in your closing, are
you? You are. Okay. All right. Good enough.

Okay. Is the Defense ready for the jury?

MR, HAYES: Yes, ma'am.
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THE COURT: Okay. Bring the jury, please.

THE BAILIFF: Yes, ma'am.

{The jury enters the courtroom.)

THE BAILIFF: Juries seated, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. Good morning. I
tried not to have you waiting too long, but -- but it was
unavolidable somehow. So we're now ready to finish the
trial of the case. I apologize for keeping you waiting is
what I was going to say. We have excused juror number 317.
I don't know what conversations happened back there, but

there was a medical issue with his wife and so he needed to

leave.

That means that juror number 124 -- raise your hand --
you are now & member of the -- the- jury. You can come on
and sit down there with them. I've also -- I am golng to

appoint juror number 172 as the foreperson of the jury. Is
that you?

THE FOREPERSON: Yes, ma'am.

THE COQURT: OQkay, wonderful, So, and I'll tell you,
as foreperson of the jury, you just guide the jury's
deliberations and write the verdict. But I'11l talk to you
about that when I charge you on the law that applies to the
case. Before I get to the law, you're going to hear the
closing arguments of the attorneys. After the closing

arguments, you will begin deliberating, and -- I'm sorry,
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closing arguments and the charge on the law.

You'll begin deliberating and continue to deliberate
until you've reached a verdict. As yocu know, we've ordered
lunch for you because your deliberations will go into the
lunchtime. They may not even start until lunchtime. And
once you start deliberating, you're not permitted to leave
until you've reached a verdict. So with that, I'm not
going to delay any further. I'm going to ask you to give
your undivided attention to Ms. Raymer, I believe, for
closing argument.

MS. RAYMER: Your Honor, Defense might rest.

THE COURT: Oh, I'm sorry. Right. 1I'm sorry.

MR. HAYES: Would miss me too, Judge. Defense rest,
Judge. We would renew all previous motions and objections.

THE COURT: OQkay. And my rulings remain the same.

MR. HAYES: Thank you.

THE COURT: Okay. Sorry about that. I forgot we had
concluded the State's case when you left, but some of that
work we do outside of your presence. I knew that the
Cefense was resting and so I'm sorry for overlooking that.
But now that they've rested, that is all the evidence
you're going to hear all the testimony. And so now if you
would give Ms. Raymer your undivided attention for cleosing
argument.

MS. RAYMER: Thank you so much, Your Honor. May it
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please the Court?

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am,.

MS. RAYMER: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, you
spent the last few days with myself, with my co-counsel,
Caroline Hughes, and the Defense. And I+ would just like
to, on our behalf, thank you for your attention and your
service in this matter.

Over the last few days, you've heard about how the
Defendant Ontario Staley and Naneka Perry sex trafficked
two juveniles, and between
September, 20198 and January, 2020 in Richland County.

And though Ontario Staley took their photographs and
posted them on Skip the Games for the purposes of sex
trafficking, you heard that they pose that the instruction
of the Defendant and that he is the one that produced the
rhotographs. We know that those photographs were produced
as charged on September 15th, 2019, when they were
published on the Skip a Game ad and from the metadata on
Instagram that they were actually taken a few days prior to
that.

We know that through the testimony that has came out
through the case. These acts constitute the crimes that he
has been charged with. He has been charged with two counts
of trafficking a persons under the age of 18, one for each

of the victims, and two counts of criminal sexual
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exploitation of minor in the first degree for each of the
victims, and two counts of sexual exploitation of a minor
in the second degree.

Soon you'll go back into the jury room and deliberate
about what you heard. You've heard what charges were
brought against Defendant at the beginning of this trial as
well, and the judge will give you the exact definition
shortly when she charges you on the law in this case. Now,
the charges -- and the way the statute is written for these
charges is a little bit confusing, so I'm going to go
through the charges and the elements of what he is charged
with to show that the State has met its burdeni

As the State, i1t is our job to prove, beyond a
reasonable doubt, that the Defendant committed each of the
elements of these crimes. Beyond a reasonable doubt is the
highest burden in our legal system. A reasonable doubt is
defined by our law as a doubt that would cause a reasonable
person to hesitate to act. It does not mean proof beyond
any and all possible doubt. We just have to leave you
firmly convinced of the Defendant's guilt in these matters.

To demonstrate that we've proven our case beyond a
reasonable doubt, I'm going to go through the evidence that
has been presented to you in this trial. And go through
the elements of the crimes that he is charged with. The

Defendant is charged with two counts of sexual exploitation
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of a minor in the first degree, one for each of the minor
victims. Sexual exploitation of a minor in the first
degree is the offense of either using, employing, inducing,
coercing, encouraging, or facilitating a minor to engage in
sexual activity or appear in a State of sexually exploit --
explicit nudity.

Now, to meet this burden, the State just has to prove
that the Defendant did one of these acts. I would submit
to you that the State has proven that he has done all --
all of these, if not almost all of these acts. But to me
the burden we just have to show that he's done one of these
things. ©Now, a minor is legally defined as an individual
who is less than 18 years old. 1In the State age is not a
defense to a prosecution pursuant tco this section.

Now, how do we know that _ and
- are minors? We know that from the testimony of the
officers in this case. We also know that through the
testimony of herself and Naneka Perry, as well as
state's Exhibit 12, showing that [ENGEGEGEGEGEG 2:c of
birth is |- Based on when these photographs were
taken and the timeframe that the trafficking occurred, we
know that [N ou1d've been 16, maybe 17 if
the acts occurred after November.

But she would be a minor by the legal definition as

being under 18 years old. And as for whose
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date of birth is |||l WM. v know that she was 17

years old during this timeframe. ¥Now, there's some other
legal definitions in here as well.

We have engaging a minor using employing, inducing,
encouraging, coercing, or facilitating a minor to engage in
sexual activity, or appear in a state of sexually explicit
nudity -- which I'll define for you -- for the purpcses of
producing material that contains a visual representation
depicting the sexual activity or that sexual explicit
nudity. What a reasonable person would infer the purposes
for sexual stimulation and the Defendant knows the
character or content of the material.

Now, the material that's being produced is defined as
pictures, drawings, video recordings, films, digital
electronic files or other visual representations or
depictions or representations, but not materials consisting
entirely of writtern reports. Now, what is sexually
explicit nudity? That means the showing up and uncovered
or lessen opaquely covered human genitals, public area, or
buttocks, or the nipple or any portion of the areola of the
human, female breast, or sexual activity.

The State only has to show, to meet its burden, that
the minors appear in a sexually explicit nudity. However,
we can also prove that they appear in some form of sexual

activity. Sexual activity includes any of the following
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acts, or simulations thereof, masturbation were done alone
or with another human, wvaginal, anal or oral intercourse,
or touching in an act of apparent sexual stimulation or
sexual abuse of the clothed or unclothed genitals, pubic
area, or buttocks of another person, or the clothed-:or
unclothed breast of a human female.

Now, that we've gone through the legal definitions of
the terms used here, I want to talk about how the State has
shown and met its burden for this charge. We've met this
burden through the testimony of Naneka Perry and
N

For this charge, we don't even need to show a
photograph. We just have to show that the Defendant
Ontaric Staley produced this material through one of these
means. When Naneka testified, she testified that she met
Ontario Staley a few years prior when she was in her 20s,
and she was working at Fort Jackson in a McDonald's. When
she was -- went to go get her taxes done with her W2's at
Liberty Tax, where she met the Defendant Ontario Stalely.

How he had asked her for her number and pursued her.
They began dating and moved in together, and they had twins
and moved to her adoptive mother grandmother's house at -
B :venue, which is in the City of Columbia in Richland
County. We know from the testimony of Captain Jackson that

this is the house in Richland County. These are
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photographs that you took ¢f the room, the main master
bedroom at that address.

We also know from Naneka's testimony that Ontario
Staley began having her go on calls, in calls and out
calls, and how he set up on a TextNow app. And he would
show her the conversations that had been had and that he
would make the ads and post them to the account. She also
participated in some of this communication via her -- via
her own TextNow app.

We learned from her how they eventually got ﬂ_ and
involved. There were some inconsistencies in the
testimony as far as how that initial involvement occurred.
However, I want to talk about the things that were
consistent. Both and Naneka testified that Ontario
Staley took the photos that would later be posted to the
Skip the Games ads. They both testified they were taken in
the master bedroom at the Noble Avenue address.

They both testified that Ontario Staley was the one
that teld them what te wear. That Ontario Staley was the
one that took all of the photographs. That it was Ontario
Staley's idea, and that Ontario Staley told them how to
pose. And that it was later Ontario Staley who uploaded
those photos to the ads and posted them. We also know that
from the devices that were seized in this case.

Now, I want to take a moment to discuss these devices.
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You heard testimony from John McDevitt, the traffic stop
that occurred of Ontario Staley on May 21st, 2020, and
multiple devices, several phones, tablets, and an SD card
received from the Defendant's wvehicle, a Dodge Caravan.

You also heard from Sergeant Glen Oxendine, that he ‘
received the devices together in a property bag from one of
the deputies because the lead investigator, Captain
Jackseon, was out of town.

And then he entered them into evidence on June 4th,
2020. Why did it take him over a week to enter these items
into evidence? I don't know. However, we do know from his
testimony that the devices were in a property bag when he
received them, and he placed them in & locked area over his
cubicle and only -- that could only be opened with a key -
that he had -- before they were placed into evidence.

We also know that when they were placed intec evidence,
through the testimony of Evidence Custodian Joshua Fabel,
that one of the items that were in this bag were not
accounted for. And it was later given the number of item
number 31 and entered into evidence when the mistake was
discovered. We also know this from Captain Heidi Jackscn,
who recalled that on April -- April of 2022 -- 2024 that it
was discovered that there was an additional device in
evidence that was not accounted for with an item number.

Now, how do we know that that item 31 was in the bag
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before April of 20247 We know that from her testimony as
well. We know that because she testified that she had
produced a search warrant in 2020, four years prior, and
that had the IMETI number of this missing device.

An IMEI number, we heard, is a unique identifier to
the device. So we know that it was in the evidence bag in
2020. ©Now, during this testimony, I myself was getting
confused as to the dates, what was happening, when the
devices were checked in and out. However, I believe the
best piece of evidence that these devices are Ontario
Staley's —-- are from Ontario Staley's stuff.

{(Video played.)

MS. RAYMER: Now, through the testimony of Lieutenant
Kevin McCullough, we know that this was actually just
identified through -- to him through his inmate ID number.
But I would ask you fto use your common sense and to apply
that this is Ontario Staley's, not someone else using his
inmate ID number, discussing Naneka telling him about the
devices, and that all of his devices were taken pursuant to
a traffic stop and taken into evidence. The exact devices
that we have in evidence now.

Now, how do we know that this isn't Naneka's phone?
We know this because there was testimony that Naneka only
had cne phene, And that Naneka turned her phone over to

law enforcement, and that they dumped it. A&nd, in fact,
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the Defense even questioned her regarding some of the
TextNow messages on that device. That device was searched
and later returned to her, and she never had more than one
phone.

We heard from Major Ricky Johnson, who was gqualified
as a forensic device expert, that he dumped the devices,
and the devices themselves prove they belonged to Cntario
Stalely. Now, we meet the burden by that testimony that
the Defendant was the one that took these photographs,
depicting them in sexually explicit nudity.

As you have seen in State's Exhibit 6, this qualifies
as sexually explicit nudity, as well as this. We know from
testimony of and of Naneka that this is [EJR

_ who was 16 at the time, and that this is

B -d this is Naneka Perry. Again, testimony showed

this is and who are under the

age of 18B. As well as in this photograph, where it was
identified and

Now, where were these three photographs located? All
three of these photos were located on the Defendant's
phone, on item number six that was seized in a traffic stop
from the Defendant. We know through the metadata on his
phone that these pictures were taken on August 30th of
2019, and these pictures depicting were later posted

along with some of the other photographs to a website
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called Skip the Games, which advertises for commercial sex.

Turning now to sexual exploitation of a minor in the
second degree. Sexual explcitation of a minor in the
second degree is the offense of recording, photographing,
filming, developing, duplicating, producing, or creating
digital electronic file material that contains a visual
representation of a minor engaging in sexual activity, or
appearing in a state of sexually explicit nudity, where a
reasonable person would infer the purposes for sexual
stimulation and the Defendant knows the character or
content of the material.

Those photographs that I just showed you show exactly
this. We know that the Defendant Ontaric Staley was the
one that photographed them, and was the one that
distributed them by posting it to Skip the Games. Not only
were the photographs on this ad found in the Defendant's
phone but also photographs that were not posted to Skip the
Games.

We know that these photographs were posted on
September 5th, 2019, to this website Skip the Games.

Beyond knowing that it was the Defendant through the
testimony, we also can identify the device as being his,
additionally, through email accounts that are associlated
with the Defendant's phone: Keshaunstaley3570@gmail.com,

ostaleyliberty@gmail.com, familyaffair2365@gmail.com,
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staleyvstaley@gmail.com. You heard testimony that the --
there was a Cash App and a Visa attached to that Cash App
belonging to Ontario Staley.

You heard that the Facebooks that had been logged into
on that device were associated with all of those email
addresses. That his Snapchat on the device was Keshaun
Staley and associated with the phone number that is
attributed to him. There were also photographs on that
device that identified it his is. There's a number of
selfies, both nude and not, as well as a photograph of his
ID.

We also know that saved in his Google Chrome login
information was a login to skipthegames.com under the
username ostaleyliberty@gmail.com, with the password
Staley63, which was the same password he used for multiple
devices and, ultimately, was the password that got into
device number 31.

Now, what was found on device number 31?7 A number of
TextNow App communications regarding negotiations for sex
acts.

MR. HAYES: Objection.

THE COURT: Overruled.

MS. RAYMER: Regarding negotiations for sex acts,
arranging "QV", which we know is a quick visit or for half

an hour and determining the price for those services as
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arranged by number of roses that correlated with a number
of dollars.

We also know from device number 31 that there was an
email found on that device. In State's Exhibit 23. Sent
to staleyvstaleylgmail.com on September 3rd, 2019, saying -
- from Skip the Games saying, "Hey there, we've received
your request to post an ad for the first time at
skipthegames.com. Please verify your email
staleyvstaley.com.”

Now, all of this evidence goes to the posting of these
ads. But what it also goes to beyond meeting the burden
for us to show sexual exploitation with the minor in the
second degree for the two victims that have been identified
as _ and is the charge of
trafficking in persons under the age of 18,

Trafficking in persons under the age of 18 is the
offense of having recruited, enticed, solicited, isolated,
harbored, transported, or so provided or obtained, or so
attempted a person under the age of 18 knowing the wvictim
will be subjected to, for the purposes of either sex
trafficking or slavery or services, involuntary servitude,
or bondage through any means.

Now, again, the State only has to prove that the
Defendant did one of these acts. I believe that the State

has proved and met the burden that he has done almost all,
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if not all of these acts as well. To find him guilty of
this offense, again, you only have to find that he did one
of these things.

We've shown that and are
both under the age of 18, and that he did this for the
purposes of sex trafficking. Sex trafficking is defined as
a person under the age of 18 by harboring, recruiting,
transporting, providing, or obtaining a person under the
age of 18 years old to perform cne of the following acts.
When anything of wvalue 1s given, promised to, or received,
directly or indirectly, by any person.

We know that something of walue was exchanged. We
know that the victims were paid for the sex acts and
required to give that money to the Defendant Ontario's
Staley, and that the victims received things such as hair,
getting their nails done, clothing and other things.

We have to show that this was -- they were performing
one of the following acts; sexual performance -- again,
this is an "or," we only have to show one of these things -
- sexual performance is defined as any performance or part
thereof that includes sexual conduct by a child younger
than 18; or showing sexual conduct, actual or stimulated
intercourse, deviant sexual intercourse, or one of these
other things. That a sexual battery was occurred.

Sexual battery means sexual intercourse, cunnilingus,
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fellatio, anal intercourse or any intrusion, however
slight, into any part of a person's body, or any object
into the genital or anal opening of another person's body.
It also includes producing, directing, or promoting a
sexual performance by a child, or engaging a child for a
sexual performance.

These are defined as producing, directing, or
promoting a sexual performance by a child by doing that for
a child under the age of 18 to include sexual conduct, or
engaging a child for sex -—- a sexual performance by
employing, authorizing, or inducing a child younger than 18
years of age to engage in a sexual performance.

If you find that the Defendant did any of these
things, he is guilty of trafficking in persons under the
age of 18. And these crimes are for _ and
over the time period of September, 2019 to
January of 2020. And we know he did these things through

the Skip the Games ad that was posted regarding service

here, advertising as offering these services.
We know from testimony that she performed

sexual intercourse on these calls, that she went on both in
calis and out calls and she defined those for us. But how
do we know that it was on Ontario's Staley that posted

this? We know that through the photographs there were not

only on his phone matching to the ads but also through the
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testimony of SLED agent, Special Agent Logan Fey. We know
that he served a records request to the business person,
the custodian of records at skipthegames.eu. And that they
provided the following business records in response.

That the postings related to Phoenix were registered
under the email of ostaleyliberty@gmail.com, and that the
ones related to Storm correlated with the email
stanleyvdaily@gmail.com. The same emails asscciated with
his devices. They also provided Excel spreadsheets showing
the postings that occurred during these timeframes. This
one relating to the posting of Storm. This one relating to
the postings of Phoenix advertising things such as, "Super
Angels are here," associated with the email address
ostaley@liberty —-- ostaleyliberty@gmail.com. The same
email address the Defendant was using when Naneka met him
working at Liberty Tax.

Now, as mempers of the jury, it's up to you to
determine the credibility of the witnesses. And as I've
gone over this testimony that you've heard, from law
enforcement officers, from the victim, from
the co-defendant who was also charged and pled gquilty to
human trafficking and sexual exploitation of a minor for
her involvement in this scheme. This i1s up to you to
determine the credibility of giving each witness.

And as I have gone over this testimony with you and
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how it relates to each charge, there are things that are
missing. You might have some questions, but just because
of that, that does not mean that the State has not met its
burden to show that Ontario Staley committed these crimes.
We know that he is the one that had them post for those
photos. He is the one that took those photos. He is the
one who had those photos on his device, and he is the one
that posted those photos from an email address that was
found on his device.

Now, this is not CS8I. This is not an episode on TV.
This is real life. But as told you, "We all played
our part." And the guestion before you is what part did
Ontario Staley play? I would ask you to use your common
sense as to whose devices these are, as to who posted these
ads. And I believe that the State, through its witnesses
and through the evidence, has met its burden, beyond a
reasconable doubt, that this Defendant committed the crimes
of sexual exploitation ¢f a minor in the first and second
degree and human trafficking in persons -- trafficking in
persons of a person under 18 years cld for both
and [ CHIII 2 d that these crimes occurred
between September of 2019 and January of 2020 in the county
of Richland.

I almost skipped. What else his involvement with the

trafficking was. He didn't just post his ads, he also
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communicated with the buyers via TextNow app. You heard
that did not have a phone, neither did )l znd
that he would show them the communication. So he would --
they would know what sex act had been negotiated, how much
money to collect, and other things that had been set by
him.

He not only negotiated these things, but he alsc,
according to both Naneka and was always the one that
drove them. Naneka would sometimes be in the car, but it
was always the Defendant Ontario's Staley that was driving
them to perform these sex acts. And it was always the
Defendant Cntario's Staley that they gave the money to
after they completed the sex acts, even if it had to be
passed through.

So I would ask you to use your commen sense when
you're deliberating and to find, through the evidence and
through the testimony, that the State has met its high
burden. We have proved that Ontaric's daily is the one
that committed these crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. And
to determine what part he played, and we would ask you to
find the Defendant guilty on all counts. Thank you

THE COURT: Mr. Hayes.

MR. HAYES: Thank you, Judge. May it please the
Court?

THE COURT: Yes, sir.
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MR. HAYES: Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.
Ontario, sits before you presumed innocent of these
charges, just as he had at the beginning of the trial.
Ontario Staley is not guilty of the charges that are levied
against him by the Government in this case. And we're
going to establish why. Because there's reasonable doubt.
There's reasonable doubt here. The Government has to prove
this case beyond a reasonable doubt, which would cause you
to not hesitate to act.

Tt's their responsibility to meet that burden. It's
their responsibility to be fair, just, transparent. That's
what this courtroom requires. I told you earlier, I think,
at the beginning of this case that I thought the evidence
might fall flat. There are other words that I would use to
describe it now that it's been submitted.

It's disappeointing, it's infuriating, and it's it's a
pawn. This is all the power that the State of Scuth
Carolina has. Right here. We have Assistant Attorney
Generals that are down here to prosecute this case. We
have a Captain from the Sheriff's Office who spent a long
time doing this -- these human trafficking and sexual
exploitation investigations. We have one of two SLED
agents in this State that makes up this task force. And
not only is he part of a -- a local task force, he's a part

of a federal task force.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

549

549

And they don't get to just come in here and say that
Ontario Staley's guilty because we say sc. That's not how
it works. We're not in Iran. This isn't East Germany.
They don't get to come in and flex their muscle and say,
"Hey, we're the mighty State of South Carclina and we say
Ontaric Staley did this and because he did it."™ No. It
doesn't work like that. It's —-- it's disappointing because
you'd expect more evidence based on everything that they
testified about, wouldn't you? And we'll get to it. But
was there 23 items submitted? This whole investigation,
the whole case, they got 23 items? Half of that, the
credibility is totally questionable. They don't get to
stack the deck, they don't get to cherry pick their
evidence, they don't get to bring things late in the game
and say, "Well, give us a pass."

They called Naneka Perry, who absolutely had an ax to
grind in this case. The evidence showed that Ontario
Staley was preparing to leave her, and that there was only
two ways out for Ontaric Staley, in a body bag or in jail.
Well, ladies and gentlemen, there he sits. Ms. Perry said,
"Oh, she brought these two troubled girls into her home,
but she was going to take them under her wing." But I -- I
think about that. There's a palm tree at my house that we
love. There's some doves, every spring they come and have

a nest there. And they'll have a series, three, maybe four
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different times when they lay eggs and baby doves are born.
And they come every year, every spring -- spring. Go out
and watch them. It's fantastic. Got a sense of pride.

2nd I watch those mother birds take somecne under
their wing and I know what that looks like. They're there
to protect them, to shield, to make sure they're safe in
that nest. When Ms. Perry testified that she took them
under their wing, you know what she did? She took them
under the wing because she was about to expose them,
because she was a vet in the game. She had visions of
becoming Heidi Fleiss or some other famous matter.

She enticed these girls. She harbored these girls.
There wasn't any testimony that anyone came to Ontario
Staley and said, "Hey, will you take these girls in?" No,
the testimony was their mothers came to Naneka Perry and
said, "We are having trouble with these girls and we'd like
you to take care of them for us."™ And she took that as an
opportunity to do exactly what she did.

Mr. Staley's in the house because he's got two kids
with this lady. He's trying to be there for them. Mr.
Staley didn't do anything to harbor and entice to get these
girls to do anything. They know that. The Government knew
that when they put Naneka on the stand, and what'd she do?
She came in and said -- well, she -- they put her on the

stand knowing that she had made these comments about only
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two ways out, a body bag or jail. And she lied about it.

How dc we know she lied? Because told us
she lied without telling us, said, "Yeah, I
remember that. There's only two ways out for Ontario.”

I'm going to allow it. Come over here, put your hand on
the word, on the good book. Take the stand and lie. Maybe
it's time to put a new book in courtroom (slammming). That
one's been desecrated.

It's infuriating. It's infuriating that they allowed
B :c testify the way she did. They did absolutely
nothing to prepare her for her testimony. Necthing. They
let her take the stand and she said, well, I'm trying to
remember these things the best way I can, and it was five
years ago and I've kind of tried to put it out of my mind,
so. But this is pretty sure how -- how I remember it.

They didn't just put her on the stand without talking
to her at all. They would've had to prepare her socme. And
we know what that preparation looked like because of the
way she testified on direct examination. Ontario, Ontario,
Ontario. She did exactly what they wanted him to do. They
promcted it and they put that evidence in front of you
knowing that she had said other things previously, things
that were exculpatory, things that demonstrated that my
client wasn't involved. That Naneka was the ringleader.

They knew that Naneka 1s the ringleader. She's got
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him under her wing. She's trying to take flight. On her
own. Nothing to do with Ontario Staley. He did not
entice, harbor, or get these girls to do these. 1It's
infuriating. It's a disappointed. You should expect more
from the Government. They should be forthright.

They shouldn't solicit that testimony, but she has to
testify that way because it has to go like this for them.
He's guilty because we say he is. And that's enough.
That'™s enough. That's all we need. If we say he is, then
he ought to be. We're the mighty state of South Carolina.
All the power in the world. Well, at least within
geographical confines of this state. It's disappointing to
the Jjury.

“So Exhibit 1, it's a picture of _ Avenue, and
how do we get here? How do we get here? Well, I think
that the evidence showed that Ms. Perry reluctantly went up
to the Sheriff's QOffice and tried to make a report about
what was going on, made some allegation against Ontario
Staley. The allegation comes in the backdrop of that she's
being left by Ontaric Staley, and we all know that there's
only two ways out, and there he sits. It's a measure of
last resort.

She's reluctant to go up and talk teo law enforcement
because she knows what she's done. She knows what her own

involvement in this case is. She doesn't enter the
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conversation with clean hands. So she tries to get out of
there, and she does. I think that's evidence would show
that probably the next thing that happened. Ms. Jackson --
or Captain Jackson -- I keep calling her Ms. Jackson. I'm
sorry. Captain Jackson tried to make contact with Naneka
and she really didn't want to talk. And they had an
intermediary, Ms. Fulton. And she said this was a
grandmother who had basically raised her for a long time.

A Grandmother who had raised her, who had worked for
DSS for 17 years. HNow, we didn't hear from Ms. Fulton, but
I would expect that someone who'd been with DSS for 17
years cculd see some signs of problems, especially given
how close they must have been. That is if you believe
anything that Ms. Perry had to say. Certainly, we're
scrutinizing every word. But Ms. Fulton and Ms. Perry
leave that day without really communicating anything
further to the Sheriff's Office in pursuit of this case.
And the next thing we know, a deputy named Hawks is doing a
welfare check at [ GGz 2venue.

Now, there isn't any evidence about where the welfare
check came from, who called it what it was, what they were
really looking at. None of those things. There's no
evidence about any of that. But do not -- it's almost
inconceivable to think that this is just coincident. That

they just happened to go out to 1504 a couple days later
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for a welfare check and just happened Mr. Hawks,
apparently, believed, which we have no evidence of because
we didn't hear from Mr. Hawks, but somehow there's evidence
in this case that he believed that there was maybe some
kind of human trafficking going on. On the basis of what?

Now, the Sheriff's Office went out there to help
substantiate what we have going on. That's exactly what
happened. 1It's a logical conclusion. 2And for any other
way, they'd have shown you the evidence. 1It's not there.
It's disappointing. It's infuriating. It's appalling.

Ms. Perry probably knew they were coming. She had time
with whatever device she had to do whatever she was going
to do. She probably did.

When she was asked about the phone that she had, she
said she gave it to Deputy Hawks. She really didn't say
she had consented to it, but she had provided it. And
outside of ﬁhe text message that came to be about her being
a vet in the game, did the Government offer any evidence
about that phone at all? By her own admission, she's
involved in this, she's pled guilty. Wouldn't you want to
know what extent she's involved? What level of proof there
is in that phone? Has the Government shown you that? It's
disappointing, it's infuriating and it's appalling.

So, really, after the phone was provided, but before

Captain Jackson actually interviewed Ms. Perry for the
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first time, Captain Jackson sald that she wanted to see
about this. She wanted to investigate. There were some
law enforcement tools that were available to her. This
tool called Spotlight. And this tool called Spotlight
could show you different advertisements, different things
that would be available. And she basically said that she
used the phone number that was provided by Ms. Perry.

And that phone number led to what's been marked as
State's Exhibit 5, the only Skip the Games ad that's before
you. Nowhere in this document does it talk about the phone
numpber. It has a phone number to call, but it doesn't show
how we get here. It doesn't say how it got there, who
posted it. It might show when it was posted as a
timestamp. That's if you accept it on its face. This is
the only ad.

In the ad, you can see there's three people involved
in that. You could only identify two at best. The third
person could be absclutely anyone. If someone -- if
someone were to come across this ad, they would've no idea
who the third person was. None. So they have —-- they have
-~ she has that then, they -- they generate that piece of
evidence early in the case. It's interesting that that's
the only ad they ever generate. Because, at best, I guess
it's the only one. I mean they have the rest of this stuff

from Skip the Games, I guess, right? That's been marked
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into Exhibit, 1%, 20, 21, and 22.

And I'm sorry to take my time. I'm certainly not
trying to belabor the point, but this is important stuff.
Senior Agent Fey says, "Well, hey, anytime we have a
problem with Skip the Games, we can email this guy named
Samuel Hancock. Samuel Hancock could be Vladimir Putin.
They have no idea who Samuel Hancock is. They have no idea
where he is. They've never met him, never talked to him,
never done anything. Samuel Hancock could be AI, for all
anyéne knows., Might not even be a real person. They could
have software on the other end of this that just puts out
whatever they want to put out.

They could be in Iran, Russia, North Korea. They
could be anywhere. No idea. They can't prove any of that.
They can't prove that anyone actually signed this. 2nd he
sends these printouts, that they want tc purport are
associated with different email accounts. Well, if we
don't know if this certificaticn is good, how do we ever
know that these records are goed? And if these records
were avallable, wouldn't you want to see the ads
associated?

This is the mighty State of South Caroclina. They give
you cne ad. Don't you expect more? I mean we're talking
about human trafficking. Is this really the kind of case

you think about when you think about human trafficking?
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Is there allegations of people being held against their
will, being shuttled around, held down --

MS. RAYMER: Objection, your Honor. This is --

THE COURT: Sustained.

MS.. RAYMER: —- Improper. It's not the law.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. HAYES: We don't know where this came from. We
can't verify who sent it. We have nc idea if this is at
all correct. 2&nd if it was, you'd think there'd be more.
And there's not. I shake my head with more disappointment.
Government comes in and says, "Oh, hey, we figured out this
mistake back in April of 2024 and we wanted to fix it."

Thé problem with that is Brandon Rast, who the
Government didn't produce as & witness in this case, and we
didn't hear from, checked every other one of these items
out in July of 2020. All, except one.

And you know the one he didn't check out? Was the one
they found in April. How does that happen? Eow 1s it you
have an investigator from the Sheriff's Q0ffice go down, get
the evidence bag, check them all out except for one, and
not realize the mistake then. They just allow the mistake
to go on for four years. Is that what we're supposed to
believe? That's what they want us to believe. That's
infuriating to me.

Then they want to come forward with item 31 and say,
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"Oh, hey, we got this one -- we got this -- this email,
staleyversusstaley on there. Must have been associated
with Skip the Games." It doesn't say anything about these
girls. What was going on, the allegations before you. I
don't think there's any real question that Naneka Perry was
involved in prostitution. No question about that. She
told you that. She's the one that got these girls into it,
so she could elevate herself.

But it's absolutely unthinkable to me tce think that
the Sheriff's Office let a piece of evidence go
undocumented for that long, and then this happens to fall
in somewhere. Where'd it -- where'd it come from? We
don't know. Hey, it could have been in Glen Oxendine's

for all we know. They want to say, oh, we got to listen to

this K-9 Officer McDevitt, when he was out there on this

traffic stop.

He saw all the stuff. He didn't see anything. He saw
some electronics, some clothes, some perscnal items. And
you know what? When my client is on the phone, he says
they got everything that's on the van. Isn't it reasonable
to conclude he's leaving Naneka Perry, he's living in the
van. They got all -- and they got everything. They got
all my stuff. Yeah. When you're involved in a traffic
stop and you're living in your wvan, law enforcement got it

all.
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And McDevitt didn't collect anything. He can't
identify any of those. And Oxendine took it from someone
he doesn't even know who it was. 1In fact, Oxendine doesn't
know who he got it from, when he got it. Okay. Ancother
woefully unprepared witness had no idea what he was
testifyving about. Thought he had received this evidence a
month prior to the traffic stop. Disappointing,
infuriating, and appalling.

Says "Yeah, I got it from someone. I don't know
where. It came from a traffic stop somewhere over in St.
Andrews." If you remember the testimony. Now, the traffic
stop happened on Fairfield Road. I guess he's the only one
that didn't know it. Unbelievable. Coming into a
courtroom, charging on human trafficking and exploitation
charges like this and testify like that? Expect and demand
more.

Doesn't know where -- who brought them in. So we
don't even know who ccllected them. No idea. There's no
evidence of that at all. I'm not even sure that they can
really say that those are the phones that came ocut of the
car. It's very loose. It's kind of locose. Hey, oh, you
got to believe it because we say s¢. We're the mighty
State of Scuth Carolina. We say so. So you might as well
-—- we're going to cram it down your throat. You're going

to eat it.
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That's not how it works. This is not Iran. This is
not East Germany. This is not Russia. Infuriating. He
takes possession of them. You know what? He doesn't take
any proper inventory. He doesn't actually know what he
took. Ee didn't mark the bag. 1It's a clear bag. It's
what he said. It's a clear bag and he put it in the
overhead compartment where it's at. And he doesn't really
remember for how long exactly because he didn't even
actually know when he got it, where i1t came from, who he
got it from.

I wonder how many other things were in that
compartment that he was holding onto for weeks or months.
and at some point, I guess it dawned con him that maybe it'd
be a good idea to submit som; -- submit this evidence. But
when he submitted it, again, Brandon Rast came behind him
and 31 is not there. They didn't catch it then. They
didn't catch it until May or April this year. And Brandon
Rast took them all out. He didn't testify, had them for a
while and brought them back. We have no idea what he did
with them, what was going on. We have no idea what kind cof
condition they were in, what was actually on the phone.

But we know he handled them. He had them for a week.

But Ricky Johnson came in and told you about how

important it was to document what was going on with that

device at the time that he was evaluating. We had no idea
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what Brandon Rast did in that week period of time. No.
And you know who deserves the benefit of the doubt of all
those gquestions? Ontario Staley. That's who.

Obviously law enforcement has all kinds of tools, to
find all kinds of things, toc do all kinds of things.

What's really going on here? As to the Skip the Games
thing again, because I'm just looking down at a note and
I'm -- I'm doing my best to get through it. I want to talk
about hiding the ball, stacking the deck, cherry picking
the evidence. This thing from Skip the Games came last
week. Look at the date. This case is four and a half
years old.

I guess the Government's so busy running around
getting this nonsense from Samuel Hancock that they don't
have time to actually prepare their witnesses so that they
can extract the truth. They can't have that because that's
a conflict. Listen, he's guilty because we say he is.
told you -- she didn't say this at the
beginning, of course, of her testimony, but ultimately came
around to it -- that Naneka Perry is the ringleader. She's
the responsible party. It's not Ontario Staley. Naneka
Perry is the ringleader. She didn't want to say that.

It's her sister.
And her sister's in here testifying against the --

already pled guilty to human trafficking and to sexual
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exploitation of minor -- or sexual exploitation, third
degree. And she did that te limit the amount of exposure
that she has in the -- in -- for her responsibility. She
did it in exchange for a recommendation of not more than 10
years, which in this business we call a cap, a cap of 10.
understands that her sister has a lot to
gain or lose through her testimony here. So does Naneka
Perry. That's why they put it on Ontario Staley. In scme
kind of way, they probably feel like they need a conviction
more than the Government does, which is sort of hard to
concede based on the way they presented this case. And

originally, didn't say anything about, oh yeah,

Ontario was going to leave and, yeah -- oh, yeah, I
remember now. I remember now.

Now, that I've seen it -- I'm going on my memcry, but
now -- now that I've seen it, now I remember. Now -- oh,

yeah, now I remember. Oh, oh, I remember now. No, her
memory is not good encugh. She demonstrated that. Her
memory of the events back in 2019 are not good enough. So
many times she testified to something that was later proven
to not be accurate. But they don't want you to see that.

You know, one of the things that occurs to me about
the Skip the Games thing, Special Agent fey talked about
when you set up these accounts in order to give them,

right, you got to give him a bunch of information. You got
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to give them phone numbers. What else did he say?
Remember? A photo ID, your driver's license. You've got
to show your driver's license to get to Skip the Games ad.

Don't you think that if there was a photc driver's
license of Ontario Staley-associated with any of these
accounts, they'd put it before you? Then it'd be there for
you to say, "Yes, I feel like I can trust that.” Doesn't
its absent speak volumes? It should. With technology the
way it is teoday, if they could verify that, they would've.
The State of South Carolina, and all the authority that it
has, and the evidence isn't there. 1It's disappeointing.
You should expect more. It's infuriating to me.

In fact, they didn't call [N IEIEGEG -: =1
More than the two alleged-victims in this case. We didn't
hear anything that they would've to say. Nothing. And
don't you think i1f she was going to testify favorably for
the State that they would've called her? All right.
_ was going to come in and testify. If
Ontario Staley was responsible for this, you would've heard
from her. And you didn't. Her absence should be
absolutely alarming. It's disappointing. It's
infuriating. It's appalling.

So I've talked about the magical -- the magical device
somewhere in here. Whichever one it is. Just appears out

of nowhere. So what about the rest of them? The
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Sheriff's Office purported to have six, seven phones and
all we have is just basically one or two things. This one
email and then they have these photographs. We have all
these other devices that have seven tools that are
available to law enforcement that we're able to extract
information from.

I think one of the greatest attempts of extraction in
this case is Naneka Perry to get herself out of this.
Naneka Perry 1is not a victim in this case. She's not a
victim. There's not a charge that's before you where she
is one. She should not be viewed as one because she's not
one. Naneka Perry is the ringleader. told you
that. But we have all these other phones, and I know that
the -- the girls -- or excuse me, said, "Hey, I
didn't have a phone."

Teenagers today, get out in the world, right? Look
around. They're all glued to them. So maybe while she
didn't have a phone, I guess law enforcement would have you
-~ must have been -- there was all these, I guess,
purportedly in the home. She had to have been using some
of them. Because it is very difficult to believe that
someone of that age in this time would be totally
electronic free.

Some little boy at home, they don't have a phone yet.

They trying to give me one. They say, "Hey, can I have
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your phone, dad?" "Sure." AaAnd they take them for a
minute. They do different things. One runs a Fantasy
football team and they like to check out the sports scores
and different things, so they run off with the phone, you
know. 2And I'm really not thinking about it. But you know
what invariably happens? The phone comes back and maybe
we'll go outside and take a picture of those deoves I was
talking about.

We can send them to my father-in-law, who also enjoys
that kind of thing. But you know what'll be on that phone?
Some picture or video of themselves? They've taken it.
There's different ways to get things on the phone. And the
only people in this case you can say that Ontario Staley
had anything to do with the photos, are the two people with
the most to gain. Naneka Perry's got to have that phone in
Ontario Staley's hands. And we've already shown they don't
really care what the truth is, by any means necessary.

It's disappointing, it's infuriating, and it's appalling.

Our testimony's not credible, neither one of them.

And we showed it that way. Ontario Staley's not guilty of
human trafficking. He's not guilty of sexual exploitation
of a minor. In this case, Ontario Staley faces a first and
second degree account of sexual exploitation of minor.
Naneka Perry pled to a third degree of sexual exploitation

of a minor. That should cause you some hesitation all on
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its own.

When I see selfies, we know that these photos --
rhotos can be taken a number of ways. You don't have to
have someone on the other side of the camera anymore. Set
it up where, take a picture of myself, and 10, 15 seconds,
we're going to get a burst of 30 seconds worth the
pictures. Whatever -- whatever the device is capable of.

In today's technology, I mean, if we can believe any
of this -- which I suggest -- I suggest you ought to
scrutinize, not giving them any of it. You shouldn't
either. You have no idea about most of what they put in.
Most of what they put in is not reliable. They just want
to put it before you and say, we say it is this way, so you
should bhelieve. We're the State of South Car;lina, and we
say that these records are good. 8So you should believe it.
Samuel Hancock might not even be a person. If any of this
stuff had anything behind it, it'd be before you. There's
a reason it's not.

told you Naneka worked the phones, posted
the ads. Who's to say that she didn't do that on the one -
- the one that's in front of you. Wouldn't that cause you
to hesitate. That's reasonable doubt, ladies and
gentlemen. Do you think they remember this one back on
September 5th? They couldn't remember anything else. No

idea who posted that, except the people who have the most
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to gain or lose. That's who it's coming from.

They have every bias and prejudice on the -- on the
planet Earth. And they'll come over here and disgrace the
law. Time for a new book in two ways. Ontario Staley is
not guilty on any of these counts. 2And we'd ask you to
return a verdict that -- that suggests the same. Thank
you.

THE CQURT: All right. Folks, it's now time for me to
charge you on the law which applies to this case. I remind
you that during this trial, you and I have certain duties
to perform. As the trial judge, it is my responsibility to
preside over the trial of this case, and I also have the
duty to rule on the admissibility of the evidence offered
during this trial. You are to consider only the competent
evidence before you, including the testimony which has been
presented from this witness stand, any exhibits which have
been made a part of the record in this case and any
stipulations of counsel.

I have the additional duty to charge you the law
applicable to this case. As a presiding judge, I'm the
sole judge of the law of this case, and it is your duty as
jurors to accept and apply the law as I now state it to
you. If you already have any idea as to what the law is or
what the law ought to be, and it does not agree with what I

now tell you the law is, you must abandon this idea because
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you were sworn to accept the law and apply the law exactly
as I stated to you.

In every case tried in this court before a jury, the
Jjury becomes the sole and exclusive judges of the facts. A
trial judge cannot intimate, state, comment on, or make any
statement to a trial jury about the facts in a case. Since
you, the jury, are the sole judges of the facts in this
case, do not infer from anything that I have said or done
during the progress of this trial, or anything that I say
now during the course of this instruction to you that I
have any opinion about the facts in this case. The law
does not allow me to have an opinion about the facts in a
case. This is a matter solely for you, the Jjury to
determine.

The indictments in this case charged the Defendant
with two counts of trafficking in persons with the victim
under 18 years of age, two counts of sexual exploitation of
a mincr first degree, and two counts of sexual exploitaticon
of a minor second degree. I remind you that the -- that
the fact that the Defendant was arrested, charged, and
indicted is not evidence in this case and cannot be
considered by you as evidence of guilt in this case, nor
does it create any presumption or inference of guilt.

These documents are simply the formal written

instruments which contain the charges made against the
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Defendant. They're the formal decuments by which this case
was brought into this court. The Defendant has pled not
guilty to each of these indictments, and that plea puts the
burden on the State to prove the Defendant guilty of each
of the offenses charged in each of these indictments.

A person charged with committing a criminal offense in
South Carolina is never required to prove himself innocent.
I charge you that it is an important rule of the law that
the Defendant in & c¢riminal trial, no matter what the
seriousness of the charge may be, will always be presumed
to be innocent of the crime for which the indictment was
issued, unless guilt has been proven by evidence satisfying
you of that guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The
presumption of innccence does not end when -you begin your
deliberations, but it accompanies the Defendant throughout
the trial until you reach a verdict of guilt based on
evidence satisfying you of that guilt beyond a reascnable
doubt.

The presumption of innccence is like a robe of
righteousness, placed about the shoulders of the Defendant,
which remains with the Defendant until it has been stripped
from him by evidence satisfying you of the Defendant's
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The presumption of
innccence is not a mere legal theory. It is not just a

legal phrase. It 1s a substantial right to which every
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Defendant is entitled, unless you, the jury, are satisfied
from the evidence of the Defendant's guilt beyond a
reasconable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is the kind of doubt that will
cause a person to hesitate to act. The State has the
burden of proving the Defendant guilty beyond a reasonable
doubt. Some of you may have served as jurors in civil
cases, where you were told that it is only necessary to
prove that a fact 1s more likely true than not true, such
as by the preponderance or greater weight of the evidence.
In criminal cases, the State's proof must be more powerful
than that. It must be beyond a reasonable doubt.

Proof beycend a reasonable doubt is proof that leaves
you firmly convinced of the Defendant's guilt. There are
very few things in this world that we know with absolute
certainty, and in criminal cases the law does not require
proof that overcomes every possible doubt. If, based on
your consideration of the evidence, you are firmly
convinced that the Defendant is guilty of the crime charge,
you must find the Defendant guilty. If, on the other hand,
you think that there is a real possibility that the
Defendant is not guilty, you must give the Defendant the
benefit ¢of the deoubt and find him not guilty.

Now, there are two types of evidence generally

presented during a trial, direct evidence and
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circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the testimony
of a person who claims to have actual knowledge of fact
such as an eyewitness. It is evidence which immediately
establishes the main fact to be proved. Circumstantial
evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances
indicating the existence of a fact. It 1s evidence which
immediately establishes collateral facts from which the
main fact may be inferred.

Circumstantial evidence is based on inference, and not
on personal knowledge or observation. The law makes
absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be
given to either direct or —--- direct or circumstantial
evidence, nor is a greater degree of certainty required of
circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence.- However,
to the extent that the State relies on circumstantial
evidence, the circumstances must be consistent with each
other and, when taken together, point conclusively to the
Defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If these
circumstances merely portray the Defendant's behavior as
suspicious, the proof has failed.

The burden of proof rests with the State regardless of
whether the State relies on direct evidence, circumstantial
evidence, or some combination of the two. You should weigh
all of the evidence in the case. After weighing all of the

evidence, 1f you are not convinced of the -- the guilt of
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the Cefendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the
Defendant not guilty. Necessarily, you must determine the
credibility of witnesses who have testified in this case.
Credibility simply means believability. It becomes your
duty as jurors to analyze and to evaluate the evidence and
determine which evidence convinces you cof its truth. 1In
determining the believability of witnesses who have
testified in this case, you may believe one witness over
several witnesses, or several witnesses over one witness.
You may belleve a part of the testimony of a witness and
reject the remaining part of the testimony of that same
witness.

You may believe the testimony of a witness in its
entirety or reject the testimony of a witness in its
entirety. You may consider whether any witness has
exhibited to you any interest, bias, prejudice or other
motive in this case. You may alsc consider the appearance
and manner of a witness while on the witness stand. The
rules of evidence ordinarily do not permit witnesses to
testify to opinions or conclusions.

An excepticn to this rule exists for witnesses we call
expert witnesses. A witness who by education and
experilence has become expert in some art, science,
profession or calling may State an opinion as to relevant

and material matter in which the witness claims to be an
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expert, and may also State the reasons for the opinion.

You should consider any expert opinion received in evidence
in this case and, like any other evidence, gilve it the
weight you think it deserves.

If you decide that the opinion of an expert witness is
not based on sufficient education and experience, or if you
conclude that the reasons given in support of the opinion
are not sound, or that the opinion is outweighed by other
evidence, you may disregard the opinion entirely. An
expert test -- I'm sorry -- an expert witness's testimony
is to be given no greater weight than that of other
witnesses simply because the witness is an expert.

Further, you are not required to accept an expert's opinion
even though it 1s not contradicted. -

I instruct you, and emphasize, that the fact that the
Defendant did not testify is not a factor to be considered
by you in any way in your deliberation and in your
consideration on the question of the guilt or innocence of
the Defendant. It must not be considered by you in any
manner whatsoever. I repeat, under your ocath, you are to
draw no conclusion whatsoever from the fact that the
Defendant in this case did not testify.

The fact that this Defendant did not testify should
not even be discussed in the jury room. The burden of

proof, as I've stated to you, is on the State. The
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Defendant is not required to prove his innocence. The
burden of proof remains on the State to prove the Defendant
guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

In order to establish criminal liability, criminal
intent is required. For example, the mental state required
to be proven by the State for a particular crime might be
purpose, intent, knowledge, recklessness or criminal
negligence. Criminal intent must be proven by the State
beyond a reasonable doukt. Criminal intent is always a
matter that must be determined by the jury from the
circumstances surrounding the situation. There is no way
to prove intent to a mathematical certainty. There is no
way that medical science can dissect a person's brain and
determine what the person had in mind. So the law says
that criminal intent may be inferred from the circumstances
shown to have existed.

This is how you make a determination of whether or not
the element requiring criminal intent was present. It is
not necessary to establish intent by direct and positive
evidence, but intent may be established by inference in the
same way as any other fact, by taking into consideration
the acts of the parties and all of the facts and
circumstances of the case. Criminal intent is a mental
state, a conscious wrongdeing. It is up to you to

determine what the Defendant intended to do based on the
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circumstances shown to have existed.

Two of the indictments charged the Defendant with
trafficking in persons where the victim is under 18 years
of age. The State must therefore approve beyond a
reasonable doubt that the Defendant recruited, enticed,
solicited, isolated, harbored, or transported a person
under 18 years of age. The State must also prove that the
Defendant did this, knowing that the victim would be
subjected to, or for the purpose of sex trafficking, forced
labor, or services, or involuntary servitude.

Sex trafficking means recruiting, harboring,
transporting, providing, or obtaining a person to either
engage a child for sexual performance or produce, direct or
promote a sexual performance by a child or commit sexual
battery. Engaging a child for sexual performance means to
employ, authorize, or induce a child younger than 18 years
of age to engage in a sexual performance. Sexual
performance means any play, motion picture, photograph,
dance, or other visual representation that is exhibited
before an audience.

Producing, directing, or promoting sexual performance
by a c¢hild means to produce, direct, or promote a
performance that includes sexual conduct by a child under
the age of 18. Sexual conduct means actual or simulated

intercourse, masturbation, or lewd exhibition of the
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genitals. Sexual battery means sexual intercourse,
cunnilingus, fellatio, anal intercourse, or any intrusion,
however slight, into any part of a person's body or of any
object into the genital or anal openings of another
person's body.

The following are not defenses to this charge. The
victim's connection by blood or marriage to a Defendant in
the case or to anyone involved in the victim's trafficking;
the implied or expressed consent of a victim to these acts;
the age of consent to sex, legal, age of marriage, or other
discretionary age; or mistake as to the victim's age, even
if the mistake is reasonable.

The Defendant is also charged with twe counts of
sexual exploitation of a minor in the first degree. The
State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the
Defendant used, employed, induced, coerced, encouraged or
facilitated a minor to engage in sexual activity or appear
in a State of sexually explicit nudity. The State must
also prove that the Defendant did this for the purpose of
producing material that contains a visual representation
depicting the sexual activity or State of sexual -
sexually explicit nudity in which a reasonable person would
infer that the purpose is for sexual stimulation, and that
the Defendant knew the character or content of the

material.
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Minor means an individual who is less than 18 years
old. And mistake of age is not a defense to this charge
either. The Defendant is alseco charged with two counts of
sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree.
Therefore, the State must prove that the Defendant
recorded, photographed, filmed, developed, duplicated,
produced, or created digital electronic file material that
contained a visual representation of a minor engaged in
sexual activity or appearing in a State of sexually
explicit nudity when a reasonable person would infer that
the purpose is for sexual stimulation, and that the
Defeﬁdant knew the character or content of the material.

Material means pictures, drawings, video recordings,
films, digital electronic files or other visual depictions
or representations, but not material consisting of entirely
written words. Sexual activity includes any of the
following acts or simulations of these acts; masturbation,
whether done alone or with another human; wvaginal, anal, or
oral intercourse; touching in an act of apparent sexual
stimulation or sexual abuse of the clothed or unclothed
genitals, pubic area or buttocks of another person or the
clothed or unclothed breast of a human female.

Sexually explicit nudity means the showing of
uncovered or less than opaquely covered human genitals,

public area, or buttocks, or the nipple or any portion of
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the areola of the human female breast.

Now, there are two possible verdicts you which you may
reach for each of the indictments in this case; guilty or
not guilty. There's no significance whatscever in the
order in which I state those possible verdicts. It's
simply that one must be stated first. Now, you have been
sworn and chosen as impartial jurors to give the parties in
this case a fair and impartial trial. When you have done
so, you will have complied with your oath and no one will
have a right tec criticize your verdict. You must not be
influenced by opinions or expressions of opinion you may
have heard outside of the courtroom, but rather should base
your verdict solely on the testimony of the sworn witnesses
who took the stand, the exhibits received into evidence,
and the law which I have stated.

You should not be swayed by caprice, passion,
prejudice, or improper sympathy for or against anyone in
this case. Remember, you have no friends to reward or
enemies to punish, and all parties are entitled to fair and
impartial trial. It is your duty as jurors to consult with
one ancther and to deliberate in an effort to reach an
agreement. As I stated earlier, you are judges, judges of
the facts. Your verdict must represent the considered
judgment of each juror. In other words, your verdict must

be unanimous.
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Now, you may have noticed that I've read these
instructions to you. I do so to give you the law as
accurately as possible. Now, Mr. Foreman, it will be your
duty to preside over the Jjury's deliberations. If during
the deliberations you should desire to communicate with the
court if you have a question or something, please reduce
your message or guestion to writing, signed by you as
foreperson, and the foreperson only, and then pass the note
to the bailiff who will bring it to my attention. I will
then respond as promptly as possible either in writing or
by bringing you back into the courtroom.

Now, you've heard the evidence and you've heard the
law. Whatever your verdict, Mr. Foreperscon, you will
indicate it on the indictments -- which I shouldn't have
passed down there. But you'll see on the indictment there
are two-sided. Each indictment is two-sided. On one side
there is a description of the offense charged, including
which victim it applies to, the dates, et cetera. On the
other side, you'll flip it over and on the left side you'll
see a column where it -- it gives like a -- an arrest
warrant number and some other things.

But down the bottom left corner of those indictments,
there's a place to write the verdict. You'll write guilty
or not guilty as to each indictment. You'll sign and date

as foreperson on behalf of the jury. Remember that
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although the foreperson is the only juror who writes the
verdict, it is not his alone. The wverdict has to be
unanimous. And, Mr. Foreman, you are not permitted to
write the verdict until all jurors have agreed on the
verdict.

Now, I'm going to excuse you from the courtroom. Now,
this is the last time that I'll tell you not to discuss the
case. You are not to begin deliberating until the balliff
has brought you all of the evidence in this case and the
indictments. Once you receive the evidence and the
indictments, that's your signal to begin deliberating.
You'll continue t¢ deliberate until you've reached a
verdict. We have ordered lunch for you. It is completely
up to you whether you want to pause and eat lunch first,
whether you want to eat while deliberating. It doesn't
matter. 1It's up to you.

But certainly, you can't leave the Jjury room. You
can't have your phones. We're not going to take any
additional break. Also, I want to let you know now that
there are a couple exhibits which we will not send back to
the jury room. You can request them IiIf you want them, but
because of the sensitive nature of the photographs, some of
the enlarged photographs have been pulled from the pile of
evidence. I believe they're the same photos that appear in

a smaller version on another document, there's the




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

581

581

purported ad from whatever -- it's called Skip the Games
with smaller like thumbnail versions.

And then those pictures had been enlarged. I think
we've pulled out most of the enlarged photos, but if you
want them, you can have them. We're just trying to
minimize because they're minors, allegedly, involved. I
think that concludes my comments to you. Please return to
your jury room. Really, by the time y'all have passed out
lunch and figured all that out, we should be bringing you
the evidence and the indictments, and like I said, you'll
then start to deliberate. The alternate can stay in the
courtroom, but the other 12 jurcrs can retire to the jury
room.

{The jury exits the courtroom.)

THE COURT: Any objections to the jury charge from the
State?

MS. RAYMER: No objections from the State, Your Honor.

THE COURT: From the Defense?

MS. RAYMER: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay. Y'all can go ahead and come up and
make sure all the evidence except those four photos there,

MR. HAYES: Your Honor, there was one -- one —-- it was
like a partial redaction on Exhibit 22, maybe, whatever
it's is, this one Skip the Game thing where there was this

April entry and they just scrubbed the date out. I would
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ask that the entire changed phone number, the whole --
every —-- not just the date, but the -- the date -- the
entry of the date and whatever the entry is, the whole
thing be redacted, not just the date.

THE COURT: The State consent to that, or?

MS. HUGHES: ©No.

THE COURT: Let me see the document then.

MR. HAYES: I mean, it comes after -- it comes April -
- I mean, the redacted versicon there is like April 10th or
whatever. I don't know or remember what it is? April
20th, 2024, or 2020, but it's outside of the date range.
Sc they scrub the date, but it shows that there's a --
there's a change at that time. I mean that's what it's
signifying. If -- point of the redaction was to take the
whole thing off.

MS. HUGHES: The point of the redaction was that the
date was after the date range, which is what the Defense
requested to be redacted. I don't see what prejudice --
since the date has been excluded, what the phone number
changed indicates, since you can't see what date it was
changed.

THE COURT: But it's also not relevant to the
allegations in this case that =-- because that didn't occur
until outside the timeframe. I get your point that it's

just a phone number change, but he changed the phone number
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=- or really, interacted with Skip the Games outside of the
window alleged in the indictment, so I think that entire
entry -- or I'm ruling that that entire entry, including
the changed phone number needs to be redacted. So if y'all
will fix that really quickly.

And make sure those photos are pulled out. Okay. Did
you have something else?

MR. HAYES: No.

THE COURT: Okay. To the alternate, you are our
backup juror. I mean, actually we had two, but one was
seated today, but that's just in case things happen. You
saw what happened with the fellow Jjuror and his wife. We
didn't know whether we would need one or two people or
whatever, but -- but since the other 12 now have made it to
the end, then your service is no longer needed and you will
not be permitted to deliberate with them.

When I excuse you from the courtroom, of course you
can grab your lunch. It comes in a box, so. You can take
it to go. You can come back in the courtroom if you want
to wait for them to deliberate and find out what the
verdict was. You can go home. You can do whatever you
like. Do you have a work excuse already?

JUROR NUMBER 124: I do.

THE COURT: Okay. The clerk is going to meet you in

the back hallway while you're getting your lunch and your
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cell phone and bring you a work excuse and just talk to you
for a second. But it completes your jury service. I know
it's late in the year, but you're no longer eligible to
serve on a jury in circuit court in 2024. But if you're
summoned in 2025 or 2026, yvou'll probably have to show up
that Mecnday, but you can exercise an exemption. Just tell
the judge that during qualifications Monday morning that
you served on a jury here this week and they'll excuse you,
of course, in 2025 or 2026.

Like I said, it's -- it's an exempticn. ©So if you
want to stay and serve, you can, but you can also choose
not to serve. You're alsc free to discuss the case with
whoever you want to discuss it with at this time. Anyone,
everyone, no one, doesn't matter. And I thank you for your
time and attention. You are now free to go. Thank you.
Thank you.

All right. Y'all good on the evidence?

{(The jury began deliberation at 12:38 pm.)

THE BAILIFF: Please remain seated. Court come to
order.

THE CQURT: All right, thank you.

All right. Just to recap, previous notes from the
jury -- just because Mr. Hayes wasn't in here, I've already
communicated to the State. I first received a note asking

for the method of verification of Skip the Games.
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Something aleng those lines. I wrote them back and said,
"I can't answer that. You have all the evidence before
you. Let me know if you need to rehear testimony." Then a
second note came out asking for the four exhibits that had
been withheld. So I didn't even give a written response,
but T did have the Clerk give them those four exhibits.

Now, ancother note that says, "Need the prosecutor's
definition list that she used in closing." And so while I
certainly cannot give them that, I thought what might be
appropriate is to bring you all in and ask to see again
what you used in closing, what was on the screen, so that
might help me to find what they're looking for and sort of
reread the charge on that portion of the law to them, and
hope that that is satisfactory. But without -- I mean, I
guess I could ask what they're looking for, but I could
alsc just ask you what was on the screen to maybe find that
portion of my charge.

MS. RAYMER: Yeah. Absolutely. Specifically, I -- I
pretty much tock everything from the jury charge.

THE COURT: Yeah, I thought sc. Let me hear from Mr.
Hayes, though, while you're looking for that.

MR. HAYES: Judge, I'd have to look and, candidly, I
moved my box tc the car just because -- I mean, it -- it
was obviously presented differently than it was-in the

charge. So it's -- it was sort of that the way we weren't
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going to do it in the charge, right, with the -- with all
the annotation numbers and things. That's what the
Government put before the jury. So I'm not sure that -- to
be candid, that it was all actually included in there. I
mean, it may have been, but I think that there may have
been some things that were presented in the State's closing
that weren't in the charge.

THZ COURT: Right.

MR. HAYES: And that -- I mean, that could be -- T
guess that could be part of the problem.

THE COURT: Probably. And so my plan would be to
bring them back in and tell them that the best I can do is
reread the charge on X, Y, Z, whatever portion of the
charge that is. And it might be all three of the
substantive charges, but of course I can't give them her
list or -- or show them again her list.

MR. HAYES: Right. ©No, I appreciate that. I mean, I
guess -~ and before we did that, I don't know if there's a
way to try to -- to respond in a way to try to get that
down before we just bring them out and start charging them
all on everything again because that in itself could then
open another -- I mean, you know, they may have issues that
are resolved, but if we're just reading all three -- I --1I
mean, do we really -- you know, are we reopening something?

I -—— I don't know if you understand what -- my point.
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THE COURT: I do.

MR. HAYES: Thank you.

THE COURT: Which is why I wanted to see what she has
first to see how -- how closely I can narrow what they're
probably looking for. Because I -- I'm certainly not going
to read all 14 pages of the charge again. But if I can
figure it out --

MS. RAYMER: How a jury's supposed to follow along
with how the language in these statutes are written.

THE COURT: Right. Mr. Hayes, you want to look at
this? Because it really appears to be all three criminal
cffenses. And again, while I can't give them that, the
best I can do is reread what I have already charged them to
the extent that it encompasses some of that I -- you know,
I'1ll tell them that's the best I can do.

MR. HAYES: Sc understanding that this is what was
shown, just for clarity, Judge -- can you say what the
question was again for me?

THE COURT: "Need the prosecutor's definition list
that she used in closing.”™ Or I'm happy to write them back
and say, "What definitions are you looking for?"

MR. HAYES: I mean, the definitions were included in
the charge.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. BAYES: All right. So we say -- I mean, frcm my
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perspective, I think the response might be tailored in a
way to say, "The definitions that are to be considered are
in the charge that the Court gave you."

THE CQURT: Right. But whether they came from --

MR. HAYES: Well, there may be some that are outside.
There may be some included there that aren't in the charge.
THE COURT: Sure. But whatever it is, they don't

remember.

MR. HAYES: But i1f they're told that -- maybe -- but
maybe -- maybe it's something that they shouldn't --

THE COURT: No, it's possible.

MR. HAYES: That they shouldn't, you know, see again
or hear again. |

F THE COURT: So I will write back, "Which definitions
are you seeking and would you like me to reread any portion
of the Court's charge on the law."

MR, HAYES: So they understand that when they come out
here, this is not what Ms. Raymer showed in the closing.
They would understand thaet what they're being charged is
what the direction from the Court was.

THE COURT: Okay. So, "Which definiticons are you
seeking? Would you like me to reread any portion of the
Court’'s charge?"” And let's see what their response is to
that, so. We'll go off the record, but don't go anywhere.

{There was a brief break.}
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THE COURT:

Okay. I'm told that we were directed by

the jury to disregard the question, which is strange, but

that -- that is why we've not received a response, a

written response.

MR. HAYES:
they're going to
Court.

THE COURT:

They -~ they probably understand that what

get is what they've already got from the

Probably, and -- right. And I

intentionally phrased it, "Would you like for the Court to

repeat any part of its charge?”

MR. HAYES:
THE COURT:
saying directly,
MR. HAYES:
THE COURT:
disregarding, so.

recess.

Right.

Because the suggestion being, without
I can't give you the State's stuff.
That's right.

50 —-- s0 mavybe that's why we're

All right, that's that. We'll be in

(There was a brief recess.)

THE BATLIFF:

You may be seated.

THE COURT: All right. I understand we have a
verdict.

MR. HAYES: Typically, Judge, we would stand to
receive the verdict, I think, but... I don't know if it

would matter at this point.

THE COURT:

It deesn't, but he can stand where he is.
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MR. HAYES: But he's in chain on his arm.

THE CQURT: I don't -- I mean, is there -- I don't
know. Any == you have any ccncern, Mr. Hayes, about him
having the belly chain on, and on his wrist?

MR. HAYES: I mean, the only concern I would have is
if it's a guilty verdict, that we'll request that the jury
be polled. 2nd so they would -- they would see that. And
if they -- if there was something --

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. HAYES: That happened in that polling process,
right, they had -- they were sent back to continue to
deliberate, I wouldn't want that to prejudice --

THE COQURT: B&Absclutely. Absolutely. So he can remain
seated.

MR. HAYES: Okay. Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: That's the solution to that. 3Bring the
jury, please.

(The jury enters the courtroom at 4:35 p.m.)

THE BAILIFF: Juries present, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you. Mr. Foreman, has the jury
reached a verdict?

THE FOREPERSON: Yes, Your Honor. We have reached a
unanimecus verdict.

THE COURT: Wonderful. If you would hand those

indictments to the Bailiff,
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Okay. Madam Clerk, would you publish the verdicts,
please?

MADAM CLERK: Yes, Your Honor., Docket number 2020-GS-
40~03151, the State of South Carolina, County of Richland,
Court of General Sessions, the State vs. Ontario Staley,
Defendant. Indictment for sexual exploitation of a minor,
second degree, not guilty.

Docket number 2022-GS-40-03150, sexual exploitation of
a minor, second degree, not guilty.

Docket number 2022-GS-40-03157, trafficking in persons
victim under 18, first offense, guilty.

2022-G5-4352, trafficking in person victim under 18,
first offense, guilty.

- Docket number 2022-GS-49, sexual exXploitation of a
minor, first degree, guilty.

Docket number 2022-J5-40-03148, sexual exploitation of
a minor, first degree, guilty.

Signed Juror number 172 as Foreman. Mr. Foreman, is
this your verdict in the verdict of the entire jury?

THE FOREPERSON: Yes, ma'am.

THE CQURT: Madam Clerk, would you hand me those
indictments again?

MADAM CLERK: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Anything from counsel before the jury is

releasgd?
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MR. HAYES:

polled.

THE COURT:

jury?

MADAM

of the jury,

CLERK:

your verdict. As

no to both

Juror

JUROR

MADAM

JUROR

MADAM

JUROR

MADAM

JUROR

MADAM

JUROR

MADAM

JUROR

MADAM

JURCR

MADAM

JUROR

MADAM

Yes, ma'am. We request the jury be

Okay. Madam Clerk, would you poll the

Yes, Your Honcr. Ladies and gentlemen

I'm going to ask you two questions relating to

I call your number, please answer yes Or

questions.

number 172, was this your verdict?
NUMBER 172: Yes, ma'am.

CLERK: 1Is this still your verdict?
NUMBER 172: Yes ma'am.

CLERK: Juror number 386, was this your
NUMBER 386: Yes.

CLERK: Is this still your verdict?
NUMBER 386: Yes.

CLERK: Juror number 289, was this your
NUMBER 289: Yes.

CLERK: Is this still your verdict?
NUMBER 289: Yes.

CLERK: Juror number 286, was this your
NUMBER 286: Yes.

CLERK: Is this still your verdict?
NUMBER 286: Yes.

CLERK: Juror number 354, was this your

verdict?

verdict?

verdict?

verdict?
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JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM
JUROR
MADAM

JUROR

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

CLERK:

NUMBER

593

354: Yes.

Is this still your verdict?

354: Yes.

Jurcr number 97, was this your verdict?
97: Yes.

Is this still your verdict?

97: Yes,

Juror number 124, was this your verdict?
124: Yes.

Is this still your wverdict?

124: Yes.

Juror number 90, was this your verdict?
90: Yes.

Is this still your verdict?

90: Yes.

Juror number 399, was this your verdict?
399: Yes.

Is this still your verdict?
399: Yes.

Juror number 115, was this your verdict?
115: Yes.

Is this still your verdict?

115: Yes,

Juror number 36, was this your verdict?
36: Yes.
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MADAM CLERK: Is this still your verdict?

JURCR NUMBER 36: Yes.

MADAM CLERK: Juror number 149, was this your verdict?

JURCR NUMBER 149} Yes.

MADAM CLERK: Is this still your verdict?

JURCR NUMBER 149: Yes.

MADAM CLERK: The jury's been polled, Your Honor.

THE COURT: 211 right. Thank you. Mr. Foreman, you
did not sign the indictments. I need you to sign and date
each of those indictments. The clerk will bring those to
you with a pen. Anything else before the jury is dismissed
from the State?

MS. RAYMER: Nothing from the State, Your Honor.

THE COQURT: From the Defense?

MR. HAYES: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay. 2ll right. Ladies and gentlemen,
thank you very much for your service, for your punctuality,
for your time and attention. And I know this was a
difficult case and -- and I don't even mean necessarily the
deliberation. I -- I don't know how your deliberations
went, and it's not for me or anyone else to know. I Jjust
mean the subject matter of the case and the images that you
had to review. I know that -- that -- or hope that on some
level that was troubling, and not the easiest thing to do.

So I appreciate your willingness and ability to do that.
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We can't do what we do unless people like you show up
and do what you have done this week. And so for that I'm
appreciative. Your jury service is now complete. We've
got nothing else this week and you've been here all week.
I wouldn't keep you anyway. You're no longer eligible to
serve on a jury in circuit court for the rest of 2024,
which I know on November 21st isn't a big deal because
there's not much left to the year.

But if you're summoned for jury duty in 2025 or 2026,
you will have to show up that Monday. But you can exercise
an exemption. You can choose to serve or choose not to
serve. That will be up to you. You'll just have to let
the judge know that you served on a jury here this week if
vou choose not to serve and they'll release you. I hope
the experience was at least ecducational.

Like I said, throucghout the week, I do my best to try
to anticipate and estimate what time I need you to report.
I don't always get that right because unforeseen things
always happen. But that is what that is. When I excuse
you, you're going to go back to the jury room. If you have
leftovers to take with you, great. If not, that's fine
too. You'll get your cell phones. You're now free to
discuss the case with whoever you want to discuss it with.
Anyone, no one, everyone, doesn't matter.

The next phase of this process, though, after I
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dismiss you is that I'm going to go ahead and sentence the
Defendant. I know you've seen on TV a lot of times or
heard in the media, or certainly with federal cases, a
person is convicted on one day and -- and sentenced some
months later. In State Court in South Careclina, we don't
do that. Just as soon as y'all are dismissed and the State
gets me the paperwork that I need to sign off on, which
shouldn't take more than 10 minutes or so, I'm going to go
ahead and -- and hear maybe from Mr. Staley if he wishes to
speak, certainly from the State, and from Mr. Staley's
attorney, and go ahead and impose sentence tonight.

So you're welcome to come back into the courtroom for
that if you choose, and if you choose not to, that's fine
too. Yezh, s¢ when you go back to the --- to the jury room
-- and actually, the clerk is going to come back there and
speak to you and prebably give you work excuses. Yes. 5o
thank you. Thank you. And.you are now excused.

(Jury exits the courtroom.)

THE COURT: Does the State have sentencing sheets
prepared?

MS. RAYMER: Yes. I was going to send them to you.

THE COURT: Sure. 0Okay. I'm goilng to step back and
thank the jury again. And so we'll have 10 minutes or so
while you get that tTogether. And I'm saying thank you to

them and then we'll ceome kack for sentencing.
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MS. RAYMER: Thank you.

THE CQURT: OQkay.

(A brief recess was taken.)

MS. RAYMER: Orders for the two victims,
and [SJl] Brimfield in this case. The State's handing up
a third restraining order related to a Makeila Smith.
She's a victim on a pending Charleston charge. She was on
our witness list and I believe could have been used as a
witness in this case. S0 I would leave that at your
discretion regarding issuing that, depending on how we will
resolve the Charleston case as a result of today.

THE CQURT: QCkay. Before I get to permanent
restraining orders, let me hear from the State.

MS. RAYMER: ¥our Honor, you've been present for this
entire trial. You have seen the nature of the offense of
trafficking on a 16 and l7-year-cld. Over the course of
this trial, I've seen the impact it has had on those
victims. chose not to testify. She
recently had a child and is working on moving on with her
life. I do know from speaking with her in preparation for
this trial that this did have an impact on her, that_she
has worked very hard to move on past, as well as
Bl o did testify in this case.

I would also ask if Special Agent Logan Fey, who has

worked on this case, has anything in regards to sentencing
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or victim impact, that he had an opportunity to speak.

THE COURT: Sure. Agent Fey. You can probably stay
right where you are. You have & micro -- I mean a recorder
in front on the table? Yeah. You can say where you are.

MR. FEY: Your Honor, working these types of cases, I
understand that these victims are profoundly and deeply
impacted, and this is a lifelong impact. These victims
participated with all requests from law enforcement and
continued interview that we conducted with them. And it's
understandable that upon first contact with law
enforcement, having been invelved in what they believe is
criminal activity themselves, that they themselves believe
that they are responsible. and could be charged themselves.

So it's a position of trust that must be gained with
that victim in order to gain their trust and -- and learn
of these stories. These two victims were in positions of
trust underneath family members. They believed that they
will be provided with a safe and nurtured family
environment in this home. But immediately upon moving into
this home with the Defendant and the co-defendant, they
were immediately victimized. There was no time that took
place. It was immediate. The onset took place as soon as
they did latch onto these two victims in order to gain for
the Defendant's monetary compensation.

The only thing that was received back to the
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Defendant's was a belief that they were going to be loved,
and that was defiled, that was taken from them. They were
leaving their homes where they're having difficulties and
going to a home that they thought they were going to have a
chance. And they were robbed of that chance by these two
defendants.

Immediately, they were put in a position where they
were in a pseudc family. Their -- their sexual innocence
was robbed of them. Their first sexual experiences were
with their family members, and they were very brutally
exposed to these sexual deviances very early on in their
life. And they're going to have to deal with this for the
rest of their lives. So even though they're presenting a
strong outward appearance and the ability and this desire
to move on in their lives, they will always live with this
experience.

And because of that, Your Honor, on behalf of the
victims, the State would ask that you take that into
account at sentencing, that these two victims will have to
live with this for the rest of their lives, and they should
never have to be exposed to the torment that would ever
come from this defendant if he ever made contact them, or
if he ever had to come across him in the streets here in --
in Columbia, if they ever returned. So we would ask that

that be taken into account, the wvictimization that took
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place and the innocence that was robbed from these two
juveniles.

THE COURT: Thank you, sir. Anything else, Ms.
Raymer?

MS. RAYMER: As to prior record, Your Honor, I just
pulled that up -- he has a 2017 use of vehicle without
permission and removal of a van. He has a 19%%0 theft by
receiving 91 -- this is a conviction, so I'm not going to
read that -- 81 criminal trespass, 94 theft by taking and

theft by receiving, 97 criminal attempt, 98 theft by
receiving, fleeing or attempting to evade law enforcement,

obstruction, giving a false name, possession of a firearm

by a convicted felon. A felon ~- felon driving without a
license.
And these are Georgia convictions, 88 -- 2000 driving

while a license suspended and giving false name. And I
believe those are all of his convictions.

THE COURT: So it sounds like the only South Carolina
conviction is from 2017, the use of wvehicle without
consent.

MS. RAYMER: That's what it loocks like.

THE COURT: And the others are Georgia?

MS. RAYMER: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Anything else the State would like

me to consider?
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MS. RAYMER: Your Honor, the State would leave it in
your discretion.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Hayes?

MR. HAYES: Your Hcnor, just as a matter of course,
the Defense would respectfully request that he be allowed
10 days to file any post-trial motions.

THE COURT: Right. I forgot that part altogether.
Yes, sir.

MR. HAYES: It's okay. I mean --

THE COURT: Yes, sir. Absolutely.

MR. HAYES: I would like to just have the ability tc
review that.

THE COURT: Absclutely.

MR. HAYES: Given the nature of the verdicts and how -
- try to understand that a little better.

THE CQURT: Yes, sir.

MR. HAYES: Sc I'd like tc be able to forward that.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. HAYES: Obviously, Judge, we've been here all week
and, you know, you're familiar with the -- the facts of the
case, legislature has passed this law candidly from -- and
this is no reflection of -- of my client and his belief,
it's just mine. You know, this is a kind of a brcad
statute that could ensnare a lot of pecple who -- you know,

there's a lot -- it's just a lot. Could have a lot of
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different outcomes here.

But, you know, my client, Judge, I've got to know him
over the last year while I've been representing him. He's
52 years old. Currently, he has five children. The
oldest, which is 18 years old, and I think the youngest are
the twins that -- that Ms. Perry —-- that he and Ms. Perry
have together. I think he's got a 10-year-old, and an 8-
year-old; is that right? 9-year-old. Excuse me.

He was originally from Atlanta, which is why part of
his prior record is -- is in Georgia. I think he came to
South Carolina in 2013, and has been here since. And --
and, Judge, you know, he's 32 years old. I understand
that, you know, he's looking at a substantial period of

time. But anything -- you know, depending on how -- what

it is, you know, he's locking at what otherwise would be a

life sentence and -- and, you know, he's looking at a life
sentence.

You know, for -- for what we're here for, we would
respectfully request tﬁat the Court not impose a sentence
that would basically resolve in Mr. Staley's incarceration
for the duration of his life. That he be given an
opportunity to -- to be -- enjoy freedom again at some
point in time. Obviously, we understand the restraining

orders as it relates to E _ and - and

Makeila Smith. Attorney General forwarded here at this
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juncture of the proceeding.

You know, it's really the first time outside of -~
maybe there might have been some limited testimony that
they had gone -- that Makeila Smith had gone with them
somewhere, and it must have been Charleston. We didn't get
into that too much, but I don't know that it's appropriate
for the Court without knowing more about that particular

set of events to issue that.

I mean, if there's some -- pending action in
Charleston at the time that, obviously, you'll -- you'll
have to face that as well. 2nd so I -- I would ask the
Court to consider that in -- in the sentence, not that the
charge is pending, but that -- that there's other exposure

potentially for Mr. Staley. I don't think in any of these
statutes when I went through them -- you know, some of the
-- some of what I might have thought, these -- these facts
fit better -- actually, requires a consecutive sentence.
So I took that into consideration. I'm not asking for
those as lesser included in the event that a verdict was
returned kind of the way it was, because I didn't want to
put my client in circumstance where, you know, he would be
facing some kind of consecutive time. Certainly, anything
that the Court would do here this afternoon, we would ask
that it'd be run concurrently. He's been in jail since

May 21st, I believe, is the date. Could be May 20th. I'm
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not trying to misrepresent that to the Court. It just
escapes me which cone it really is. But ever since the
traffic on Fairfield -- the traffic stop on Fairfield Road,

he's been incarcerated at Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center.
and we would believe, obviously -- and I know the Court
would give him credit for the time that he's spent while
awaiting trial for four and a half years in this case.

THE COURT: Of course.

MR. HAYES: But, so Judge, I mean obviously Ms. Perry
pled -- from our perspective, while she pled she is the
ringleader, she is the most culpable perscon that's
involved. I mean, these girls were entrusted to her by
their mothers. You know, they moved inte a house where Mr.
Staley is. But the reality is, Ms. Perry was actively
engaged in prostitution at the time and took these girls
under her wing and basically got them involved in that.
And I understand the jury -- the verdict here this
afternoon. You know, reflects their belief in my client's
culpability. Not to shy away from that. But she's facing

a cap of 10.

And so, Judge, we ~-- we would -- we understand that --
bring to trial and, you know, not -- not leaving the
courtroom here under a not guilty -- probably bring some --
some additional exposure. But we -- we might ask the Court

if my client is -- is 52 years old today, maybe to impose
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something in the neighborhood that -- again, that would
allow him potentially to -- to be released before the end
of his natural life. And I -- I can't say with any

certainty what that number is.

I don't have the life expectancy chart in front of me,
and I can't speak to all the health issues. I know that he
has some. Right. 2nd I don't know if he wcould like to
address those things with the Court or address the court at
all. But, certainly, we would ask for something not
excéssively more than Ms. Perry is facing based on the
testimony she provided.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Staley, would you stand and
y'all come around. Is there anything you would like to say
to me Mr. Staley?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am. First of all, I want to
thank my attorney for represent -- representation that he
did provide for me. I heard what the officers had to say.
I heard everything. I understand the nature of the laws.

I understand what he's trying to say happened. It is in my
-- from my understanding, because I was in the situation,
it's not what they're perceiving to make the courts
believe. And I do understand that I can't bring in the
context the victims their sexual activities and...

THE COURT: You can tell me whatever you want to tell

me now. The jury could not hear about that. That's not
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appropriate for trial. But if -- 1f it's something you
want me to consider, something you want me to know about,
now's the time.

THE DEFENDANT: Well, the way the officers are trying
to make it out that these girls were virgins, that they
never did anything, had a sexual transmitted
disease that we was trying to get taken care of. That's
like the extent of what I was trying to do for her. She
couldn't get -- we had issues getting her medical records -
- medical information so that we could take her to the
doctor to get her treated. Those are things that her and
her sister -- if the Court -- yeah, if the State really did
an investigation, I'm quite sure they have all information
showing their -- their sexual activity, that they're not
the way sergeant -- Officer Fey is making out.

They're Jjust straight virgins. I'm not trying to say
that that's anything that -- what was going on, I wasn't
aware of. I tried to let them have their own time. They
was doing their own thing and they -- I was trying to
respect that. Naneka and I, we have been having problems
and for Sergeant Fey and the State of South Carolina to
make it like this was going on for months and months and
months, that's inaccurate. There's a lot of inaccuracy of
things that was going cn that was -- that was supposedly,

or that's been testified that happened that really is
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inaccurate.

And I'm sitting -- I have to sit here and I have to
take it due to the fact that this is our judicial system.
I understand I had an opportunity to testify for my
innccence, but I was under the impression for what the way
my attorney presented the case and argued, that I honestly
felt that the jury would see that the State didn't verify
anything or didn't -- didn't actually bear the proof of
beyond -- I'm sorry. They didn't prove beyond a reascnable
doubt that I did these things.

So I'm -- it's like I -- I had an issue with Naneka.
I told her this where she, quote unquote, "had this
breakdown™ and this -- it wasn't that she made the threat.
I told her I was leaving her. I've been said that. The
girls wasn't even there two months. The way they trying to
make it seem like they was there from September to January,
that's a lie. They was only there two months. The Martha
Fulton, she's -- she on the phone with Naneka day and
night. Naneka trying to make it sound like I had -- I was
working her day and night. Like they turning all these
tricks and deing all this.

Martha Fulton, as you heard, is a DSS caseworker. She
was coming over to the house two, three times a week. And
I —- I'm -- I'm having a hard time just understanding that.

If she's a DSS worker and you raised this girl from age
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four to then, and you mean to tell me throughout all this
fime, you never noticed anything wrong. And it took seven,
eight months for her to say something before -- not all of
-- now is, oh, I'm this big bad guy. I'm watching her
children.

That statement she makes where her mama said I am not
allowed to be around her children. I go to her -- her
son's school. I'm on the school. I go to the PTA
meetings. When they have an issue with her children, they
don't call her. They call me. They want me tfo come up
there for her. Her children call me dad. I never told
them to do that. I got girls. I'm not trying to do
nothing like this that -- I -- I know Naneka's attitude. I
-— I live with this woman. ©Only reason I didn't leave so
gquickly because she got pregnant. I respected the fact of
how we got together. It was a one night stand that was --
she got pregnant.

When she got pregnant, instead of me just up and
leaving her high and dry, I tried to stay with her and help
her. But her attitude -- her -- the way she acts, for her
to want me to marry her, I -- that's not what I see in her
wife and I told her that. She knew the woman I was leaving
her for. They had conversations. For her to say she
didn't know her -- they had conversations. And the woman I

was leaving her told her we would move her and the children
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out where we were going to be, so that I could still be
around her.

I'm not this monster what the State's trying to make

it seem like I'm... I got kids. I'm in their lives. My
daughters miss me. I know my twins miss me. I'm -- ¥Your
Honor, what I -- I understand I've been found guilty, so I

know that's there. I know it is. I'm just asking for the
mercy of the Courts that this is not me. This is not what
I did. I didn't do any of this.

I'll never try to do anything they're saying I did.
It's not -- I'm just asking that the Courts -- like I said,
I've been there and Alvin S. Glenn. I'm quite sure you
know the problems that's been -- I had an attempt of my
life. I done got jumped by some of the young gang bangers.
I had to live through all of this. And, I mean, you heard
-- heard what Naneka's threat is, dead or in jail. And
right now, I'm -- I had two attempts. So dead is -- is
really not that far off from what she was accepted -- or

what she wanted.

And it -- I Jjust hate that she's using the State to
get what she want. Her -- exact her revenge because I'm
leaving. Martha... the same thing. She gave me the van

that I own. That was Martha's van. It's the trust that
they had in me. If the -- if the State's and the Courts

seen all that I'm -- been a whole different light on it,
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especially with the DSS worker. That's who owned the wvan.
That's who owned the house we're in. We got kicked out of
our apartment. Not due for what she said. It was because
of me. I had an outstanding warning in -- warning in
Georgia, a catch only warrant.

They came to the -- the police came to the house
looking for someone else. They found out I was there.
Found out I had a catch only warrant. They couldn't do
anything to -- to me. S0 they went to the apartment
complex, told them about my warrant. That's why we got
evicted from the apartment complex. Because of that.
Martha Fulton's -- Martha Fulton told me she would not let
Naneka move into the house unless I moved in with her.

I had the woman's debit card and her pin number
because Naneka would zlways bully this woman into giving
her money. Y'all just -- y'all got to see a small sample
of her attitude, of what she does. Martha Fulton, she
bullies, she abuses this woman and this woman takes it.
I've literally seen her break down crying because Naneka
cursing this woman out. I stand in between them. I make
Naneka leave her alone, When they have a problem with her,
they call me.

I -- I'm just Trying o tell you, Your Honor, these
are the things that I went through. For me -- for a woman

that I want to call my wife. I'm not saying that I believe
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a woman's supposed to be barefoot and pregnant in the
kitchen. Women are running the country. Women are doing
amazing things. Women are holding down jobs, doing this,
doing that. I got two daughters -- like I said, three. I
want to be able to help raise them.

But for my wife, I don't feel I should ask you to --
if I'm hungry, I tell you I'm hungry and I got to wait two
and a half, three hours for yvou to get up and go fix
scomething because you are in Facebook, her -- she -- if the
State really did an investigation on her, they would've
seen all this. But like my attorney said, because she
accused me and they want to blame me, this is tailored to
just what they need to make me look like I'm the bad guy.

I just ask you, Your Honor, I plead with you if there's -

anything you could do on to help me out, please. That's

all I ask.
I know I've been convicted. I know my -- the jury of
my peers found me guilty. So I -- I accept that. I -- 1

did what I thought was right. They said if you are an
innccent man, fight for your innocence. And my attorney
did that for me. So I know now I have to deal with
whatever consequences ycu feel necessary to impose on me.
I just ask that you have fine favor or whatever you can do
for me, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So you weren't invelved in this in any
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way?
THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, I don't know anything

about what was going on. When I tell you they were in the

room on their own -- like Naneka said, said she just met
M shc knew. So when they came over at that —-

by the time they came over, Naneka and I was having all
these problems. We was in a lot of problems. 8o I was
already in the issue moving.

And I forgot to tell you too, I'm working 12 hours a
day. I work at Wingstop. I deliberately ask them to work
me all day, every day, just so I wouldn't ke at the house.
That job started like at the end of October. So all this
time we talking about, I'm pimping them, whatever. I'm at
work. Naneka goes through phones, left and right. I had
two phones and, one, because she broke her last phone that
her mama had got from her -- her mom told her she wasn't
going to get her no more -- no more phones at that time. I
gave Naneka one of my phones, which all of my emails are --
are logged into all the emails that you heard, except for
one that I know about were logged into my phones. Every
pheone I had. I had two. I gave Naneka a phone. So she
was using one of my phones.

And like I said, I would be at work all day just to
get away from this woman. That's the only time I could get

away from where -~ I -- I'm -- I'm by myself. And if the
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State would've pulled my phone records on there, there's a
number, the woman that she's talking about that she don't
know, that my attorney brought up, Jolena. If you look on
it is all throughout the day. You'll see countless of
hours of me talking to this woman while I'm at work.

So I was building a relationship with this woman.
True indeed. When she's in Tulsa, Oklahoma, not here. So
when I tell you -- all this that they had going on, I
wasn't aware of this. Naneka then told me about she got
females that she know that's in this prostitution thing.
That, oh, yeah, she got friends that take her and do
things. Your Honor, I was nct doing it. I promise you I
was not on that.

THE COURT: When did you find out that it was going
on?

THE DEFENDANT: To be honest with you, I -- I found
cut when it was going on when I got the phone call from
called me, talking about -- said,
"What's this -- what's this I hear going on about you and
your —- you and my sister? What y'all got going on?" At
that time, I had left. I was in Atlanta. I said, "I'm --
I don't know what's going on." MNaneka called me telling
me, "I need you to come here and take half of these
charges.”" And when I asked her, "Half of these charges,

what do you mean?" That's when she proceeded to tell me,
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my sisters called my mama and told my mama everything that
was going on.

And when she said, I'm like, "Tell her everything
that's going on, what's going on?" That's when she
proceeded to tell me, oh, the -- that we was -- pimping
them and they was having sex for money and this incident,
and I'm -- I saild, "What are you talking about?" I don't
know what y'all got going on. And at that time,‘that's
when the S5tate -- the two days later that you heard -- oh,
my apoclogies. Let me back up.

The day that Naneka went down to make her initial
statement, that was on the 10th -- or 9%th. On the 10th,
Naneka called me and she asked me where I was. At that
time, I was at the house. I told her. S5he had her mama
bring her over to see me. At that time, that's when she
told me, "My sister's going to call my mama and told her
everything.” That's when we proceeded to have a
conversation and she told me, I told Naneka what she said
she was going -- her mama was taken her down to the
Sheriff's Department.

I told her, this what you do, you tell the people
you'll make the statement, but you want your lawyer
present. She says, "That's all I got to do?" I told her,
"That's all you got to do."™ She went down there. I guess

that's what she did. And that's when -- so Captain Fey
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said that she don't want to talk to her. She came back two
days later. That's when the DSS case had came up. But by
then, I had already left.

That's when I got the call to -- a couple days -- but
that's when I got the call from her telling me to come take
half of these charges. And that's when I was like, "I
don't know what you're talking about." Sc then she got
mad. I heard one of the officers in there telling her,
"Ms. Perry, we done caught you in several lies already."

So I'm like, "What are you telling these people?" 2And I'm
really -- literally, my cousin was sitting there like,
"What's going on?" And I'm saying, "I don't know, but
she's claiming that there's a prostitution thing going on
and I'm in on it."

So at that point, Your Honor, I called several times
asking this -- I called the pclice department asking them
if they had a warrant out for me. They said, no. This was
in April. May, I came back. I was here. That's the night
I had just got a loan. That money that y'all heard me
talking about on the -- on the -- on the phone. I had just
got a loan, a title loan for -- on the van. And that's the
money that was in the account, that I was telling my wife
to get just in case I needed her to put money on my books.

But outside of that, Your Honor, I didn't know this

was going on. I had no part in this. That's why I went --
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I -~ I honestly thought my attorney did a wonderful job
when he said he represented me to the point where I
couldn't have asked for anything better. And I actually --
during this time -- and I do apologize to him for -- but
some of the things that I was saying about his
representation beforehand, if I had have known in hindsight
how he would've performed then, I'd never made the comments
about him that I did.

TEE COURT: Okay.

MR. HAYES: And, Judge, Jjust briefly. Any -- anything
that he said that well -- water well under the bridge with
me, okay, as far as that goes, that is absolutely forgiven.

THE CQURT: Anything else, Mr. Staley?

THE DEFENDANT: Actually, that's it, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Well, I'll start here. I have
signed the two permanent restraining orders for [N
_ and that prohibits you from having
any contact with either one of them whatscever. Any
violation of these restraining orders as a crime in itself.
Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay. I decline to sign the restraining
order from McKeila Smith. She's not part of this case. I
understand that's a Charleston County case. It even has a

Charleston County case number on it. 8She doesn't have
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anything to do with this case and I frankly don't even know
that I would have the authority to issue a restraining
order because she's not part of this case. So I will not
sign that.

And so I'm not going to lecture you, Mr. Staley,
you're a good, grown man who knows, or should know -- and
according to you, you do know -- that you have a
responsibility to not put children in these situations,
these positions, whether they have previousliy been sexually
active or not. I'm gecing to assume that they had both been
sexually active, hopefully, with people closer to their own
age, but even though they look like women, had been
sexually active before, all of those things, it -- it
decesn't mean -- you know, once the lid is.off, it doesn't
stay off. I mean, you still have to safeguard them and not
put them in these positions. As an adult, you have that
responsibility in this society at least.

But I -- I absolutely respect the jury's verdict. As
I told them, you know, once they've done their job, no one
has the right to criticize their verdict and I certainly do
not. And, you know, that that is what it is.

So the sentences on the charges are as follows. On
indictment 2022-GS-40-03152, that is an indictment for
trafficking in persons with the victim being

who at the time was 16 years of age, the sentence is that
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you be committed to the Department of Corrections for 16
years.

On indictment 2022-G5-40-03157, that is also
trafficking in perscons with the victim being
B o =t the time was 17 years old, the sentence
is that you be committed to the State Department of
Corrections for a period of 17 years. Those two sentences
run concurrent to each other and you'll get credit for the
1,646 days vyou have served on those charges.

On indictment 2022-G5-40-03149, that is sexual
exploitation of a minor, the sentence is three years in the
South Carolina Department of Corrections. That sentence is
consecutive to the sentences on trafficking.

And for the other indictment, 2022-GS-40-03148, that
is also sexual exploitation of a minor, first degree, the
sentence is three vyears, also consecutive tc the
trafficking and cconsecutive to the other sexual
exploitation of a minor.

You requested concurrent time, Mr. Hayes, but the --
the -- pursuant to the statute, actually, the minimum
senterice on sexual exploitation first degree is three
years. No portion of which may be suspended. And it must
be consecutive to any other sentences that the Defendant is
serving.

MR. HAYES: And -- and, Judge, I -- I understand the
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Court's sentencing. I don't mean to quibble with it., He's
been incarcerated since May of 201%. The 1000 days after -
- it just sound -- it seems like there'd be more than that.

THE COURT: It wasn't May of -- it was May of 2020.

MR. HAYES: May of 2020.

THE COURT: The crimes didn't even o¢ccur until
September, 2019.

MR. HAYES: Yes, ma'am. I'm confused in my years, and
I'm certainly not trying to misrepresent that. I just want
to make sure that that is an accurate number. I hope you
understand.

THE COURT: Absolutely. And I've lcoked up his
booking date con the Alvin S. Glenn website. It says
5/21/2020.

MR. HAYES: Thank you.

THE COURT: And then I used an internet time
calculator to get to the 1,004 -- I'm sorry -- 1,646 days.
That includes today. And so, he'll get credit for those on
the trafficking charges, but the other two must be
consecutive. BSo it really i1s an aggregate sentence of 23
years when you do the consecutive parts of it. But he'll
max out the 17 -- 16 and 17 that are concurrent. Then
serve three on the first sexual exploitation, then another
three on the other sexual exploitation of a minor.

That's the sentence of the Court. Good luck to
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you Mr. Staley. And, Counsel, make sure you sign the
sentencing sheets before you leave. I know I got them
before you did, but.

And that adjourns court for the week. We're
done.

{Court adjourned at 6:35 p.m)

—--- END OF TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD -~-
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CERTIFICATE

I, THE UNDERSIGNED BRANDI J. BERRY, CERTIFIED
COURT REPORTER FOR THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT QF THE
STATE OF S5QUTH CAROLINA, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT TEHE
FOREGOING IS A TRUE, ACCURATE AND COMPLETE TRANSCRIPT
OF RECORD OF ALL THE PROCEEDINGS HAD AND EVIDENCE
INTRODUCED IN THE HEARING OF THE CAPTIONED CAUSE,
RELATIVE TO APPEAL, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR RICHLAND
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, ON THE 21ST DAY OF
NOVEMBER, 2024.

I DO FURTHER CERTIFY THAT I AM NEITHER OF KIN,

COUNSEL, NOR INTEREST IN ANY PARTY HERETO.

{8/Brandi J. Berry, CVR

COLUMBIA, SCUTH CAROLINA

NOVEMBER 21, 2024
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
) INTHE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF RICHLAND )

INDICTMENT

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on i !SL_&L% \’l the Grand Jurors of

Richland County present upon their oath:

Trafficking in Persons, Victim Under 18 YOA ~ 1%t Offense

Between September 2019 and January 2020 the Defendant, Ontario Staley, did in

623

Richland County, commit the crime of Trafficking in Persons, Victim Under 18 YOA in that

the Defendant did recruit, entice, solicit, isolate, harbor, transport, provide, or obtain a
victim under the age of 18 knowing that the victim would be subjected to, or for the
purpose of, sex trafficking or benefitting financially or by receiving anything of value from
participation' in a venture which has engaged in sex trafficking; to wit, the Defendaﬁt did
recruit, entice, solicit, isolate, harbor, transport, provide,'or obtain the victim, A.T.B (DOB:
-, knowing that she would be subjected to, or for the purpose of, sex trafficking
or béneﬁtting ﬁnanciaily or by receiving anything of value from participation in a venture
which has engaged in sex trafficking, in violation of §16-03-2020(C), Code of Laws of
South Carolina, (1976, as amended).

“Against the peace and dignity of the State, and cohtrary to the statute in such case

made and provided.

Olo 1 o

ALAN WILSON/ (HSW)
SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
_ ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF RICHLAND - ' ) :

INDICTMENT

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on m%ﬂ_ the Grand Jurors of

Richland County present upon their oath:

Trafficking in Persons, Victim Under 18 YOA — 1% Offense

Between September 2019 and January 2020 the Defendant, Ontario Staley, did in
Richland County, commit the crime of Trafficking in Persons, Victim Under 18 YOA in that
the Defendant did recruit, entice, solicit, isolate, harbor, transport, provide, or obtain a
victim under the age of 18 knowing that the victim would be subjected to, or for the
purpose of, sex trafficking or benefitting financially or by receiving anything of vélue frdm
participation in a venture which has engaged in sex trafficking; to wit, the Defendant did
recruit, entice, solicit, isolate, harbor, transport, provide, or obtain the victim, R.M.H.
(DOB: ). knowing that she would be subjected to, or for the purpose of, sex
trafficking or benefitting financially or by receiving anything of value ﬁom participation in
a venture which has engaged in sex trafficking, in violation of §16-03-2020(C), Code of
Laws of South Carolina, (1976, as amended).

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such case

made and provided.

an () Lo,

ALAN WILSON/ (HSW)
SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL

625



626

INNYOS

‘S'O PUY 'Sid '0'0°D

:SSOUJIM

_ epusjeq

0} l0
Juswiolpul uiyim auy o} Ayinb pesid pue
uosiad sadoid umo Aw uj Jeadde Aqaiay
|

'

Juepuaje(

Ainp puelo
ay} o} uawyussald aniem Agasay | ‘syybu
jebaj Aw 0} se pasiape Ajin} Buiaq Jayy

/S\m\ Nory d\NL -o1eQ

@mﬁ b:.q. mad jo uosiadaloy
6.£0 8POD WAD

0 ssejn/Auoje
(v)se€0-GL-9L

aalba(
sl 'Joulpy e Jo uoyeyiojdx3 jenxag

1o} Jusunoipuj

INVQAN343d
Aejelg oueluO
"SA

A1VIS 3HL

SNOISS3S TYHIANIO 40 L¥NOD

puejyoRy o Ajuno)
BUIIOJED UINOS 4O IS BLY1

b€ 0 -0v-SD-220Z Jequin 19x00Q

-

10IQH3A
. |keq
207 81 AV
Anp paeis) jo uosiadalo

80000.010%v020¢C

HIGNNN LNVHEVM LSFHHY

jusupedeg
SJIBYS AjUno) PUEUoTY - UOSSOET IPIoH

S3SSIANLIM



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF RICHLAND )

~ INDICTMENT
At a Court of General Sessions, convened on NI % 17 » the Grand Jurors of

Richland County present upon their oath:

Sexual Exploifation of a Minor, 1%t Degree
On_ or about September 5, 2019, the Defendant, Ontario Staley, did in Richland

County, commit the crime of Sexual Exploitation of a Minor, 1% Degree in that the
Defendant diq, knoWing the character or content of the material, use, employ, induce,
coerce, encourage, or facilitate a minor to engage in sexual activity or appear in a state
of sexually explicit nudity when a reasonable person would infer the purpose is sexual
stimulation for the p'jg}pose of producing material that depicts this activity or state of
- sexually explicit nudity when a reasonable person would infer the purpose is sexual
stimulation; to wit, the Defen;iant did, knowing the character or content of the material,
use, employ, coerce, encourage, or facilitate A.T.B. (DOB: |} to engage in
sexual activity or appear in a state of sexually explicit nudity when a reasonable person
would infer the purpose is sexual stimulation for the pﬁrpose of producing photographs
that depicts such activity or sexually explicit nudity, in violation of §16-15-0395(A), Code
of Laws of South Carolina, (1976, as amended).

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such case

L.
AL%V%?.Q(’)\NI (HSVGQdY\_
- SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL

made and provided.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) .
_ ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF RICHLAND )
INDICTMENT
At a Court of General Sessions, convened on Mﬂ_ the Grand Jurors of

Richland County present upon their oath:

Sexual Exploitation of a Minor, 15 Degree

On or about September 5, 2019, the Defendant, Ontario Staley, did in Richland

629

County, commit the crime of Sexual Exploitation of a Minor, 1% Degree in that the '

Defendant did, knowing the character or content of the material, use, employ, induce,
coerce, encourage, or facilitate a minor to engage in sexual éctivity or appear in a state
of sexually explicit nudjty when a reasonable person would infer the purpose is sexual
stimulation for the purpose of producing material that depicts this activity or state of
sexﬁally explicit nudity ;/vhen a reasonable person would infer the purpose is sexual
stimulation; to wit, the Defendant did, knowing the character or content of the material,
use, employ, coerce, encourage, or facilitate R.M.H. (DOB: -) to engage in sexual
activity or appear in a state of sexually explicit nudity when a reasonable person would
infer the purpose is sexual- stimulation for the purpose of producing photographs that
depicts such activity or sexually explicit nudity, in violation of §16-15-0395(A), Code of
Laws of South Carolina, (1976, as amended). |
| Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the étatute in such case
L\).
ALAN WILSON/ (HSW)
SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL

.made and provided.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

COUNTY oF Richland

STATE

INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2022-Gs-40 - 03157
Vs. .

Ontario Lamar Staley ANV 2020A4011200579

AKA: Date of Offense: 09/05/2019

Race: B Sex: M Age: 51 S.C. Code §: 3899

DOB: SS#: _ CDR Code #: 16-03-2020(C).
Address: Ave

City, State, Zip: Columbia. SC 29203 SENTENCE SHEET
DL# SID#

N Nl N N N S s S o S S i N N

*CDL Yes [] No ] CMV Yes [] No [ ] Hazmat Yes ] No [l
In disposition of the above indictment comes now the Defendant who was (@ CONVICTED OF or [] PLEADS

TO: Trafficking in Persons, Victim Under 18 YOA - 1st Offense (not more than 15 vears)

In violation of § 16-03-2020(C) of the S.C. Code of Laws, beari-ng CDR Code# 3899

[] NON-VIOLENT W VIOLENT [] SERIOUS [W] MOST SERIOUS [ Mandatory GPS [] §17-2545

(CSC w/minor 1stor CSC w/minor 3™)

. - Lesser Included Defendant Waives
Thechargeis:  [B]  Asindicted, [ ] Ggonge, [ presentment to Grand Jury. (def’s iniials)

The plea is: [_] Without Negotiations or Recommendation, [] Negotiated Sentence, [] Recommendation by the State.
ATTERT:

%/\ 103773 A% M A3

oW “ SCBar# etendant Attoraey for Defehdant SC Bar#
WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the Eétate Department of Correction [] County Detention Center,

for a determinate term of 1 caystmonths (] Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years
and/or to pay a fine of $ ; provided that upon the service of days/months/years/Time Served and or payment

of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspend-ed' with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.

The sentence shall run
CONCURRENT or [] CONSECUTIVE to sentenceon; 2022 &GS 46 08(52

Qr The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by SCDOC.
\e4 G -f.»--;- ;

] oinclude time spent on monitored house arrest prior to trial and sentencing.

[J The Defendant Shall be Released from County Detention Center.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922 and § 16-25-30 it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of § 16-25-20 or § 16-25-65
(Domestic Violence) to ship, transport, possess, or receive a firearm or ammunition.
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STATE VS. Ontario Lamar Staley INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2022 -GS- 40 - 03157
SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
] PTUP after months/years
And Other Terms Listed Below:
] Substance Abuse Counseling O Completion of GED 1 Random Drug/Alcohol Testing
(] Attend Voc. Rehab. Or Job Corp [Tl No Contact with Victim [_] Domestic Violence Intervention Program
(0 Mental Health Counseling [0 Mayserve W/E
beginning:

[0 sex'Offender Registry pursuant to S.C. Code § 23-3-430 [] Public Service Employment days/hours
O Central Reglstry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S C. Code § 17-25-135.
0 Other '
[0 RESTITUTION: [ Deferred [0 Def Waives Hearing [ ] Ordered
Total $ plus 20% fee: .8
Payment Terms: ' - (] Setby SCDPPPS
Recipieﬁt:
*Fine: $
Fine may be pd. in equal consecutive weekly/monthly pmts. of § Beginning
§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%) R $
§14-1-211 (A)(1)(Conv. Surcharge) i . -$100 $ 00
§14-1-211 (A)(2)(DUI Surcharge) $100 §
§56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment) . $12 3
§56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) ‘ $25 $
§14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 $ o5
§14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) : $150 3
§34-11-70(b)and(c), and 34-11-90(c)and(d) (Admin Fraud Check Court Costs) - M $
§50-21-114 (BU! Breath Test Fee) ' ' $50 3
§56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea  $ :
3% to County (if paid in installments) T8D $ 275
[0 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, Proviso requires $500 be paid to Clerk hd

during probation and shall be collected before any other fees $500 3
(0 §17-3-30(B) Unpaid Application Fee to be paid to the Public Defender Fund ) TBD $

: TOTAL  § [78.75

Presiding Judge: QPLUQY\,W

Judge Code:

2157

Clerk of Court/Deputy Clerk: \l¢,

Court Reporter:

SCCA/217 (07/2021)

Sentence Date: N oV cmb exr 2\, 2024

Page 2 of 2
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

COUNTY oF Richland

INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2022.Gs-40 - 03152

)
)
)
)
STATE )
VS, )
Ontario Lamar Staley ; AIW#: 2020A4011200578
AKA: )  Date of Offense: 09/05/2019
Race: B Sex: M Age: 51 ) S.C.Code§: 3899
DOB: ss#* I ) CDRCode# _16-03-2020(C)
Address: Ave ) _
City, State, Zip: Columbia. SC 29203 ) SENTENCE SHEET
DL#* SID# )
)

*CDL Yes [_] No [J CMV Yes [] No ] Hazmat Yes [ ] No [] '
In disposition of the above indictment comes now the Defendant who was [ CONVICTED OF or [] PLEADS

TO:  Trafficking in Persons, Victim Under 18 YOA - 1st Offense (not more than 30 vears)

In violation of § 16-03-2020(C) of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 3899

U NON-VIOLENT m VIOLENT [ SERIOUS [ MOST SERIOUS  [] Mandatory GPS (] §17-2545

, (CSC w/minor 1tor CSC w/minor 3™)
; . - Lesser Included Defendant Waives
The charge is: EI As indicted, D Offense, D Presentment to Grand Jury. (def.’s initials)

The plea is: [_] Without Negotiations or Recommendatlon [] Negotiated Sentence, [ ] Recommendation by the State.

A QW —T5 La}
Attdraey for Dafergant SC Bar #

/" WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the IQ/State Department of Correction O county Detention Center,

for a determinate term of __~ \e ] Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years
and/or to pay a fine of $ ; brovided that upon the service of days/months/years/Time Ser;/ed and or payment
of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.

sentence shall run
B% CONCURRENT or [] CONSECUTIVE to sentenceon: 2022 @S 40 03(57

[j The Defs to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by SCDOC.

l:] o lnclude tlme spent on monitored house arrest prior to trial and sentencing.
[J The Defendant Shall be Released from County Detention Center.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922 and § 16-25-30 it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of § 16-25-20 or § 16-25-65
(Domestic Violence) to ship, transport, possess, or receive a firearrn or ammunition.
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STATE' VS. Ontario Staley INDICTMENT/CASE# 2022 -GS- 40 - 03152
SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
O  PTUP after months/years
) And Other Terms Listed Below:
[0 Substance Abuse Counseling [0 Completion of GED [0 Random Drug/Alcohol Testing
[0 Attend Voc. Rehab. Or Job Corp [0 No Contactwith Victim [] Domestic Violence Intervention Program
[] Mental Health Counseling [] Mayserve WIE
) beginning:

[0 sex Offender Registry pursuant to S.C. Code § 23-3430 [ Public Service Employment days/hours
[ Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-25-135.
[0 Other
] RESTITUTION: [J Deferred [] Def. Waives Hearing [] Ordered
Total. $ plus 20% fee: $
Payment Terms: O Ssetby SCDPPPS
Recipient: .
*Fine: $
Fine may be pd. in equal consecutive weekly/monthly pmts. of _$ Beginning
§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%) $
§14-1-211 (A)(1)(Conv. Surcharge) $100 $ [O0o
§14-1-211 (A)(2)(DU! Surcharge) $100 $
§56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment) $12 $
§56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 $
§14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 $ 25
§14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 $
§34-11-70(b)and(c), and 34-11-80(c)and(d) (Admin Fraud Check Court Costs) $41 $
§50-21-114 (BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 . §
§56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea 9
3% to County (if paid in installments) TBD $ 3 75
] Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, Proviso requires $500 be paid to Clerk

during probation and shall be collected before any other fees $500 . §
[ §17-3-30(B) Unpaid Application Fee to be paid to the Public Defender Fund T8D $

TOTAL  § |72R.775

Presiding Judge: QDQ'Q/{\/VAL\/VV\WA

Judge Code:

2151

Sentence Date:

Court Reporter:

Now,mber 24, 2024

SCCA/217 (07/2021)

Page 2 of 2
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

COUNTY oF Richland

)
)
)
STATE )  INDICTMENT/CASE# 2022-Gs-40 - 03149
VS. )
. )
Ontario Lamar Staley ) AWV 2020A4010700008
AKA: )  Date of Offense: 09/05/2019
Race: B Sex: M Age: 51 ) S.C.Code§: 0379
DOB: ss# 1IN ) CDRCode#: 16-15-0395(A)
Address: Ave )
City, State, Zip: Columbia. SC 29203 ) SENTENCE SHEET
DL#* SID# )
)

*CDL Yes [J No [] CMV Yes [ No [] Hazmat Yes [] No [
In disposition of the above indictment comes now the Defendant whowas [ CONVICTED OF or [ ] PLEADS

TO: Sexual Exploitation of a Minor, 1st Degree (3-20 years)

In violation of § 16-15-0395(A) of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # (379

[C] NON-VIOLENT ® VIOLENT (] SsErRious  [] MOST SERIOUS  [] Mandatory GPS (] §17-2545

(CSC w/minor 1stor CSC w/minor 3d)

The charge is: EI As indicted, D Lesser Included D Defendant Waives

Offense, Presentment to Grand Jury. (def.'s initials)

The plea is: [_] Without Negotiations or Recommendation, [[] Negotiated Sentence, [] Recommendation by the State.

AT)/% 103773 @# <W s

Clieffe” SCBar# ( Hefendant Attorney efendant SC Bar #

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committedto the [~ State Department of Correction E] County Detention Center,

for a determinate term of ?J days'fmonthd : [J Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years
and/or to pay afine of $ : provided that upbn the service of days/months/years/Time Served and or payment

of $ ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.

The sentence shafil run
[J CONCURRENT or - [ CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: 2022 Gs_<40 o3(52. , 3157

[0 The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by SCDOC.
days/months
Ul To include time spent on monitored house arrest prior to trial and sentencing.
(0  The Defendant Shall be Released from County Detention Center.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922 and § 16-25-30 it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of § 16-25-20 or § 16-25-65
{Domestic Violence) to ship, transport, possess, or receive a firearm or ammunition.



4

- STATE VS. Ontario Staley

e — 635

INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2022 -GS- 40 - 03144-q

Presiding Judge: C/\o

. SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
0 PTUP after months/years : '
And Other Terms Listed Below:
[] Substance Abuse Counseling {71 Completion of GED [0 Random brﬁglA(cohol Testing
[0 Attend Voc. Rehab. Or Job Corp [0 No Contactwith Victim [] Domestic Violence Intervention Program
[J Mental Health Counseling [ Mayserve WE
beginning:
[0 SexOffender Registry pursuant to S.C. Code § 23-3-430 [  Public Service Employment days/hours
[d Central Registry of Child Abuse arid Negleét pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-25-135.

[J Other:
[0 RESTITUTION: [ beferred [0 Def. Waives Hearing [] Ordered
Total $ plus 20% fee: $
Payment Terms: . [0 setby SCDPPPS
Recipient:
*Fine: ) _ $
Fine may be pd. in equal consecutive weekly/monthly pmts. of ~ § Beginning
§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%) $
§14-1-211 (A)(1)(Conv. Surcharge) $100 $ 100
§14-1-211 (A)(2)(DUI Surcharge) $100 $
§56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment) $12 $
§56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 3
§14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 $ 25
§14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 $
§34-11-70(b)and(c), and 34-11-90(c)and(d) (Admin Fraud Check Court Costs) $41 $
§50-21-114 (BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 $
§56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea $
3% to County (if paid in instaliments) TBD $ 3.76
[d0 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, Proviso requires $500 be paid to Clerk :

during probation and shall be collected before any other fees $500 $
[J §17-3-30(B) Unpaid Application Fee to be paid to the Public Defender Fund TBD $

| ' TOTAL 3 [28.75

U \) \ 2157

Clerk of Court/Deputy Clerk: 5 y Judge Code:
Court Reporter: ) A Aﬁ( Sentence Date:

SCCA/217 (07/2021)

November 21, 2624

Page 2 of 2
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

COUNTY oF Richland

)
)
)
STATE )  INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2022.Gs-40 - 03148
VS. )
. )
Ontario Lamar Staley ) AW 2020A4010700007
AKA: : ) Date of Offense: 09/05/2019
Race: B Sexx. M . Age: 5 ) S.C.Code§: 0379
DOB: SS#: ﬂ ) CDRCode#: 16-15-0395(A)
Address: Ave )
City, State, Zip: Columbia. SC 29203 ) SENTENCE SHEET
o SN SOF )
)

*CDL Yes []] No [[] CMV Yes [[] No [T] Hazmat Yes [] No []
In dispoéition of the ahove indictment comes now the Defendant who was M CONVICTED OF or [] PLEADS

TO: Sexual Exploitation of a Minor, 1st Degree (3-20)

in violation of § 16-15-0395(A) of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDOR Code # 0379

[] NON-VIOLENT W VIOLENT {] sERIOUS [ MOST SERIOUS  [] Mandatory GPS (] §17-25-45

(CSC w/minor 12 or CSC w/minor 31)
. _— Lesser included Defendant Waives
The charge is: EI As indicted, [:] Offense, D Presentment to Grand Jury. {(def.’s initials)

The pleais: [_] Without Negotiations or Recommendation, [] Negotiated Sentence, [] Recommendation by the State.
ATTEST:

ﬁ 103773 M %—g TR
SCBar# C(Defendant Attorney for‘Defen@ SCBar#

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the B/State Department of Correétion [0 county Detention Center,

for a determinate term of 2 days/Tior dm@' ime-Served' (] Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years
and/or to pay a fine of $ ; provided that upon the service of days/months/years/Time Served and or payment

of$ ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.

The sentence shall run
{T] CONCURRENT or E’CONSECUTIVE tosentenceon: 2622 GS 40 03149

[J The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by SCDOC.
days/months
O To include time spent on monitored house arrest prior to trial and sentencing.
[0 The Defendant Shall be Released from County Detention Center.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922 and § 16-25-30 it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of § 16-25-20 or § 16-25-65
(Domestic Violence) to ship, transport, possess, or receive a firearm or ammunition.
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STATE VS. Ontario Staley INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2022 -GS- 40 - 03148
SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[J PTUP after months/years
' And Other Terms Listed Below:
[0 Substance Abuse Counseling [J Completion of GED [0 Random Drug/Alcohol Testing
[0 Attend Voc. Rehab. Or Job Corp [0 NoContactwith Victim [] Domestic Violence Intervention Program
[0 Mental Health Counseling 0 {‘)”g :rﬁnrvge WIE
[0 SexOffender Registry pursuant to S.C. Code § 23-3430 [J Public Service Employment days/hours
[T Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-25-135.
OO0 Other:

[0 RESTITUTION: [] Deferred [] Def.Waives Hearing [] Ordered

Total § plus 20% fee: $
Payment Terms: ' [0 Set by SCDPPPS
Recipient:
*Fine: $
Fine may be pd. in equal consecutive weekly/monthly pmts. of § Beginning
§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%) $
§14-1-211 (A)(1)(Conv. Surcharge) : $100 5 0O
§14-1-211 (A)(2)(DUI Surcharge) $100 $
§56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment) $12 $
§56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 $
§14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 $ Z5
§14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 $
§34-11-70(b)and(c), and 34-11-90(c)and(d) (Admin Fraud Check Court Costs) . $41 $
§50-21-114 (BUI Breath Test Fee) - $50 $
§56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea $
3% to County (if paid in installments) TBD . $ RA.75
[0 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, Proviso requires $500 be paid to Clerk

during probation and shall be collected before any other fees $500 $
(0 § 17-3-30(B) Unpaid Application Fee to bepaid to the Public Defender Fund TBD $

TOTAL 5 (79,15

. Presiding Judge: mvgﬂ('\/
Clerk of Court/Deputy Clerk: Y AQAIAAA 12l7 4 Judge Code: N ) 257
Court Reporter: ¢ . Sentence Date: N ov emioer 2\, 2024

SCCA/217 (07/2021) ' Page 20f 2
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Skipthegames.cu

To: Logan Fey

November 16", 2024

Dear Logan Fey,

Per your request, this is the information on each account.
One {phoenix)

email: ostaleyliberty@gmail.com

sign up: Aug 27 2019
phone: 5592398682 (no other users with this #)

Qct 31 2019 08:16:41 PM CST User changed their phone number from 819 720 9655 to 559
239 8662
Qct 16 2019 03:55:28 PM CST User changed their phone number from 803 594 6349 to 619
720 9655

Syn
Also posted by account one

Two (storm)

email: staleyvstaley@gmail.com

sign up: Sep 02 2019

phone: 18049991834 (no other users with this #)

M

If you need anything further, please let me know.

ﬁﬁuel Hanka /7

CS Manager

skipthegames.eu
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CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

Counsel for appellant certifies that this Record on Appeal contains all material proposed
to be included by any of the parties and not any other material and that this Record on Appeal
complies to the best of my ability with the April 15, 2014 order from the South Carolina
Supreme Court entitled “Revised Order Concerning Personal Identifying Information and Other
Sensitive Information in Appellate Court Filings.”

Respectfully Submitted,

RECEIVED) Kot uicts;
Kathrine H. Hudgins

Mar 172026 Senior Appellate Defender

SC Court of Appea[S South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense

Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589

Columbia, SC 29211-1589
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

This 17" day of March, 2026.


arivers
COA Received
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